
Town of Amherst, NH 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN AGENDA 

Barbara Landry Meeting Room 
2 Main Street 

 

MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 6:30 PM 
 

 

 

 
    
1. Call to Order 
    
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
    
3. Citizens' Forum 
    
4. Board of Selectmen Reorganization 
  4.1. Board reorganization and committee assignments  
    
5. Scheduled Appointments 
 

 

  5.1. Amherst Highway Safety Committee  

• Discussion re No Through Truck Traffic Ordinance on Boston Post 
Road 

• Discussion re No Engine Brakes Boston Post Road 

  
    
6. Administration 
  6.1. 457(b) Secure Act 1Election forms for 457 (b) Deferred Compensation 

plans with Corebridge (VALIC) and Mission Square (ICMA)  
  6.2. Rail Trail Referendum discussion  
  6.3. BOS Action Items  
    
7. Staff Reports 
  7.1. DPW- Request for Authorization to expend CRF funds  
  7.2. DPW-Road Work Bid  
  7.3. DPW- PD Roof Bid  
  7.4. DPW- Church Steeple Painting Bid  
  7.5. Land Bond for purchase/refinance  

Page 1 of 162



 

 

  7.6. Employer Election to Participate in the NH Retirement System  
  7.7. FY25 Seasonal Wage Scale - Effective 4-7-24  
    
8. Approvals 
  8.1. Use of Town Common, Memorial Day Parade: Friday, May 24, 2024  
  8.2. Use of Town Common, Fourth of July Celebration  
  8.3. Atlas Fireworks Permit for Wholesale/Retail Sale of Permissible 

Fireworks  
  8.4. 2023 Elderly Tax Deferrals  
  8.5. Assessing  
  8.6. AP, Payroll and Minutes  
    
9. Action Items 
    
10. Old/New Business 
    
  Adjournment 
    
  Next Meeting: April 1, 2024 
 

You are invited to a Zoom webinar. 
When: Mar 18, 2024 06:30 PM Eastern Time (US and Canada) 
Topic: BOS Meeting March 18, 2024 
 
Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83098131707 
Or Telephone: +1 305 224 1968 US 
 Webinar ID: 830 9813 1707 
 
 
 

Page 2 of 162



BOARD OF SELECTMEN
ASSIGNMENTS BY CHAIR 2024-2025 2023-2024 2022-2023

 
COMMISSIONS
Conservation Commission Non Voting Peter Lyon Peter Lyon
Heritage Commission Voting  Tom Grella Tom Grella
Historic District Commission BOS (Voting) Tom Grella Tom Grella
Recreation Commission Non Voting Danielle Pray Danielle Pray
Roads & Bridges Commission Voting  Tom Grella Tom Grella

COMMITTEES
Baboosic Lake Septic Committee Peter Lyon
Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory Liaison Peter Lyon Peter Lyon
Capital Improvement Committee Voting  John D'Angelo John D'Angelo 
Energy Committee Bill Stoughton
Highway Safety Committee BOS (Voting) John D'Angelo John D'Angelo 
Stormwater Committee Tom Grella Tom Grella

LIAISONS 
Legislative Liaison Danielle Pray Danielle Pray
Schools Non Voting John D'Angelo John D'Angelo 
Cemetery Trustees Non Voting Peter Lyon Peter Lyon
Library Trustees Non Voting Danielle Pray Danielle Pray

REPRESENTATIVES
Planning Board BOS (Voting) Bill Stoughton/John D'Angelo (alt) Bill Stoughton/John D'Angelo (alt)
Trustee of the Trust Fund ? John D'Angelo John D'Angelo 
Master Plan Steering Committee Ended Danielle Pray

Page 3 of 162



Page 4 of 162



Page 5 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Amherst Highway Safety Committee  

• Discussion re No Through Truck 
Traffic Ordinance on Boston Post 
Road 

• Discussion re No Engine Brakes 
Boston Post Road 

Department: Police Department 

Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact: Anthony Ciampoli  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The Amherst Highway Safety Committee has attended several meetings regarding 
"Through Trucking" in the Village.  After research and deliberation the committee took 
the issue of "No Through Trucking" and a prohibition against the use of compression 
braking to two separate votes.  The committee recommendation was not in favor of 
passing an ordinance for N.T.T. and supports the enactment of "No Compression Engin 
Braking".  A detailed report of our findings as well as a draft ordinance is attached. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
None 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
Would require public hearing if BOS moves toward enactment. 
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Please accept the attached recommendation and draft ordinance for further 
deliberation. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Move to accept the recommendation/findings report and draft ordinance from the 
Amherst Highway Safety Committee. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. No Through Trucking Rec Final 
2. No Engine Braking Ordinance 

Page 6 of 162



 

Page 7 of 162



Memorandum
To: Board of Selectmen

Cc: Dean E. Shankle, Jr., Ph.D.

From: Anthony E. Ciampoli, Chief of Police

Date: March 1, 2024

Re: Highway Safety Committee Recommendations

_____________________________________________________________________________________

On January 4th and 25th, 2024 the Amherst Traffic Safety Committee met to discuss several issues, but 
the most prevalent at hand was the “No Through Trucking” discussion regarding Boston Post Road.  As a 
committee we were tasked to explore the feasibility and necessity of this ordinance as well as a “No 
Engine Braking” ordinance.  

This concern has been voiced for some time and some residents have called for action.  The Nashua 
Regional Planning Commission completed a road study to understand the frequency of commercial 
traffic through the affected areas.  The results of this study identified that our traffic was unremarkable 
when compared to averages across the country.  The average for rural interstates is 23.7% and 11.4% on 
urban interstates nationally.  The study identified statistics on different sections of Mont Vernon Road, 
New Boston Road and Boston Post Road ranging from 6.1% to a high of 14.5% which fall well under the 
national 23.7% of rural interstate statistics.

Though the study was requested to derive the frequency of commercial vehicle traffic, the recording 
instrument was also able to capture speeds by vehicle type and the results were unexpected when 
compared to the last study done to determine the efficacy of the speed feedback sign on Boston Post 
Road at Sunset Road.   The 85th percentile speed for all trucks going through these areas ranged from 
10.4-14.4 mph over their respective speed limits (30 and 25 mph zones).  This is a heightened concern 
for truck traffic.  Higher weights equate to longer stopping distances and increased reliance on engine 
compression brakes to reduce speeds.  Meaning both road noise and compression braking noise will be 
at higher levels than if these vehicles were within the specified limits.

Page 8 of 162



Through the two meetings it was clear that the committee reached consensus on the issue of “No 
Engine Braking”.  After thorough analysis of the issue, the benefit of the ordinance outweighs the impact 
to commercial drivers. Though it is important to note that several committee members felt that this 
ordinance was not a safety-related concern, the apparent benefit seemed to make it plausible.   The 
areas of consideration are Boston Post Road at Mont Vernon Rd to Amherst Street and New Boston 
Road.  The grade of these sections of roadway makes the use of compression braking unnecessary and 
in an emergency situation the ordinance would allow for its use.  The committee voted unanimously to 
draft an ordinance of the same and recommends its enactment.  

The committee also analyzed the “No Through Trucking” issue and this proved to be more difficult.  By 
virtue of committee name, safety is our main priority.  Committee members struggled with whether this 
issue was a “safety” concern or a “quality of life” concern.  The facts are that we found no empirical data 
that articulates commercial motor vehicles as a safety hazard.  The speed data from this recent NRPC 
study showed that ALL vehicles were traveling in excess of the speed limit.  The committee was 
particularly concerned that the 85-percentile speed data suggests that there is not a “speeding” issue as 
much as is a “speed limit” issue.  In other words, the road design and data appear to safely support 
speeds in excess of the 25-mph limit.  There was additional discussion of whether schools being in 
proximity to the road inherently make truck traffic unsafe.  Several members opined that neither the 
Clark, nor the Wilkins School are close to Boston Post Road and that the school zone beacons and 
reduced speeds during school zone times effectively manage this safety concern.  Concerns were also 
raised that the proposal of a time restricted ordinance for NTT would not address both the morning and 
the afternoon school times.

Restricting trucking could have significant economic repercussions, especially for businesses that rely on 
efficient transportation of goods and services.  This could lead to higher delivery costs and higher 
consumer prices.  Trucking routes are chosen for their efficiency, and it is without question that the 
assumed Route 13 to Amherst Street diversion is less direct.  This will increase fuel consumption, the 
overall environmental impact, and vehicle/roadway infrastructure maintenance. 

Residents of Boston Post Road were present for both meetings and several commercial drivers were 
present for the second.  Each side had a chance to place their individual concerns on the record and the 
room was obviously divided.  After much research, I proposed a time restricted No Through Trucking 
ordinance for consideration and I will later explain why.  The committee took this issue to a vote on 
whether to recommend this ordinance and the vote was 4-1 in opposition to the ordinance. I was the 
only vote in favor of the ordinance.

Page 9 of 162



Despite finding no concrete safety incidents of note, as the Chief of Police, my vote was tailored in 
recognition that the concept of safety can vary among residents. The subjective feeling of safety is 
something I always have in mind.  My vote to recommend encompassed concerns about pedestrian 
safety, commuting, and residential well-being in the presence of commercial truck traffic in the compact 
village setting where we have two elementary schools. Simply put, my position was to be proactive in 
addressing the matter before having the “incident” that quantifies the safety concern.

As the authority to enact such an ordinance is enshrined in NH RSA’s, the Board could certainly pursue 
the enactment despite the committee stance.   If the BOS were inclined to consider the enactment of a 
“No Through Trucking” ordinance it is important to note the legal parameters of such action as well as 
any legal concerns surrounding this initiative.  Several issues were noted upon looking into this matter.  
It was noted that several of our current ordinances did not meet statutory muster.  Guidelines for the 
enactment of an ordinance express that a weight designation needs to be articulated within the 
ordinance for it to be valid.  Merrimack Road and Austin Road were found not to include this 
information.  Courthouse Road appears to not have a supporting ordinance on record at all.  The 
placement of the Courthouse sign is also troublesome as it does not allow a viable alternative route 
when the operator comes upon it.  This discovery necessitates the amendment or repeal of these 
governing ordinances.

The issues surrounding the enforcement of a blanket No Through Trucking (NTT) policy have been 
highlighted after seeking input from town counsel and police chiefs across the state. The concerns 
primarily revolve around the disparities in enforcement standards between local police departments 
and the NHSP truck enforcement unit.

Specifically, the NHSP truck enforcement unit enjoys broad authority to stop commercial vehicles for 
various checks, including weight and safety inspections, without needing specific evidence of a violation. 
In contrast, local police departments are constrained by the requirement of confirming a violation 
before initiating a stop, necessitating following a vehicle through the entire NTT zone to substantiate the 
suspicion. The impracticality and inefficiency of such a practice are underscored, raising valid concerns 
about the viability of enforcing a blanket NTT policy at the local level. 

In our discussions, town counsel has emphasized the importance of ensuring that our proposed 
ordinance is not discriminatory and is firmly grounded in verifiable facts. The primary concern centers 
around addressing disruptions to the peace caused by the excessive noise generated by large 
commercial vehicles with homes being in proximity to the roads in question. As we considered potential 
solutions, it appears that opting for a No Through Trucking approach with a time limitation (8pm-8am) 
as well as a process for hardship waiver might align more closely with our specific concerns while being 
less discriminatory.  As the committee voted 5-0 in favor of recommending a “No Engine Braking 
Ordinance”, we have attached a draft ordinance for your consideration.  

Page 10 of 162



TOWN OF AMHERST

ORDINANCE

1. Purpose:  

To regulate the excessive noise created by certain motor vehicles employing engine 
compression brakes that have been found to have an adverse effect and are a detriment to 
public comfort and quality of life to the residents of the Town of Amherst. Furthermore, 
such action is deemed unnecessary on certain roadways of standard grade.

2. Title:

This Ordinance shall be known and may be cited as the “No Engine Braking Ordinance 
of the Town of Amherst.”

3. Authority:

NH RSA 31:39, I (n) 

4. Definitions: 

For the purpose of this ordinance, the term "engine braking" shall refer to the act of using 
compression release engine brakes, commonly known as "Jake brakes," on any motor 
vehicle.

5. Engine Brakes:

It shall be unlawful at all times (24 hours a day/7 days a week) for the driver of any 
vehicle to use or operate, or cause to be used or operated any Compression Engine Brake 
on any of the following Roads in Town, except in an emergency:

a) Boston Post Road, between Mont Vernon Road and Amherst Street

b) New Boston Road, between the Mont Vernon town line and Boston Post Road

6. Exemption:

Any Town of Amherst vehicle being used for official town business/work shall be 
exempt from this ordinance.

7. Posting:

A sign shall be erected at each end of the above roadways giving notice of this 
ordinance.

8. Penalty

Whoever violates this ordinance shall be guilty of a violation and shall be fined $100 for 
a first offense and $200 for a subsequent offense.

Page 11 of 162



EFFECTIVE DATE

Having held a public hearing, the Board of Selectmen voted to adopt this Ordinance on the 
_______ day of _____________, 2024, which shall be the effective date hereof.

IN WITNESS HEREOF, a majority of the Board of Selectmen have hereunder set their hands.

TOWN OF AMHERST
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

______________________________
Peter Lyon, Chair

______________________________
Danielle Pray, Vice Chair

______________________________
Thomas Grella

______________________________
William Stoughton

______________________________
John D’Angelo

Page 12 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: 457(b) Secure Act 1Election forms 
for 457 (b) Deferred Compensation plans 
with Corebridge (VALIC) and Mission 
Square (ICMA) 

Department: Administration 

Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
An active employee has requested we consider a change in our contract with our 457 
(b) deferred Compensation Plans, allowing an active employee to disperse funds after 
reaching the age of 59 1/2, in accordance with the Miners Act. 
 
We have reached out to both Corebridge (formerly Valic) and Mission Square (formerly 
ICMA) and they have sent us election forms to initiate that change. 
 
Miners Act Provision           
In-service distributions for money purchase pension, defined benefit and governmental 
457(b) plans.  The Miners Act reduces the minimum age for in-service distribution from 
pension plans (i.e., money purchase and defined benefit plans) from age 62 to age 59½ 
and, for governmental 457(b) plans, from age 70½ to age 59½. 
 
  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Corebridge (Valic)62881.001 457(b) SECURE Act 1.0 Checklist CRBG 
2. Mission Square SECUREActElectionForm (1) 
 

Page 13 of 162



SECURE Act 
Plan Sponsor Update 

and 
Optional Plan Provisions Checklist  

 
On December 20, 2019, as part of federal appropriations legislation, the Setting Every Community Up for 
Retirement Enhancement Act (SECURE Act) and the Bipartisan American Miners Act of 2019 (Miners Act) 
became law. The SECURE Act provisions have a significant impact on tax-qualified retirement plans, and the 
Miners Act includes a provision impacting certain qualified and governmental 457(b) plans. Although plan 
amendments reflecting these provisions are not required until the last day of the 2022 plan year (i.e., December 31, 
2022 for calendar year plans) or, for governmental plans, the last day of the 2024 plan year (i.e., December 31, 2024 
for calendar year governmental plans), plan sponsors may operationally implement changes to their plans as soon as 
provisions are effective.  
 
To assist plan sponsors in documenting operational implementation of the SECURE Act and Miners Act changes, 
Corebridge Financial has developed a SECURE Act Checklist.   
 
For those plan provisions considered optional, in the event the Plan Sponsor makes no election, Corebridge 
Financial will continue to administer the plan according to the current terms.   
 
SECURE Act Provisions    
Increase in age for Required Beginning Date for required minimum distributions.   The SECURE Act changes 
the age on which the Required Beginning Date for required minimum distributions is based from the calendar year 
in which a participant attains age 70½ to the calendar year in which a participant attains age 72. Present law 
continues to apply to participants who attained age 70½ prior to January 1, 2020, and the Required Beginning Date 
(unless the participant is a 5% owner of the employer) remains the later of attainment of the specified age (70½ or 
72) or retirement from the employer sponsoring the plan. 

 
• This provision is effective for distributions required to be made after December 31, 2019, with respect to 

participants who attain age 70½ after such date. 

• This provision is applicable to all 401(a)/(k) defined contribution, 401(a) defined benefit, 403(b) and 457(b) 
plans. 

 
Change in post-death minimum distribution rules for defined contribution plans. The SECURE Act changes 
the post-death required minimum distribution rules applicable to defined contribution plans (but not defined benefit 
plans) with respect to required minimum distributions to designated beneficiaries. Distributions must be completed 
by the end of the 10th calendar year following death of the participant (exceptions for certain beneficiaries including 
a surviving spouse, the participant’s minor child until age of majority, a chronically ill or disabled beneficiary or a 
beneficiary who is not more than 10 years younger than the participant). The rule for a beneficiary who does not 
qualify as a “designated beneficiary” has not changed; if the participant dies before RMDs have begun, those 
distributions will be required within five years following the participant’s death.  

• This provision applies to distributions with respect to participants who die after December 31, 2019 (December 
31, 2021 for governmental plans). 

• This provision is applicable to all 401(a)/(k) defined contribution, 403(b) and governmental 457(b) plans 
(pending clarification of application to tax-exempt 457(b) plans). The provision is not applicable to 401(a) 
defined benefit plans.  

 
Prohibition from making loans through credit cards. Effective for participant loans made after December 20, 
2019, a plan may not make any participant loan through any credit card or any other similar arrangement. 

• This provision is effective for participant loans made after December 20, 2019. 

• This provision is applicable to all 401(a)/(k) defined contribution, 401(a) defined benefit, 403(b) and 
governmental 457(b) plans. 

 
“Difficulty of care” payments treated as compensation for Code §415 purposes. The SECURE Act adds 
nontaxable “difficulty of care” payments as compensation for determining the Code §415 limits for an individual. 

Page 14 of 162



Further, any contributions of difficulty of care payments made to the plan are considered after-tax contributions. 
“Difficulty of care” payments are only made to certain qualified foster care providers.  

• The provision applies to plan years beginning after December 31, 2015. 

• The provision applies to 401(a)/(k) defined contribution and 403(b) plans. 

Long-term part-time employees eligible to participate in 401(k) plan.  The SECURE Act requires plan sponsors 
with 401(k) plans to have a dual eligibility requirement under which an employee must complete either: (a) one year 
of service (with the 1000-hour rule); or (b) three consecutive years of service where the employee completes at least 
500 hours of service.  In the case of employees who are eligible solely by the new reason described in (b), the plan 
sponsor may elect to exclude such employees from nondiscrimination and coverage testing and application of the 
top-heavy vesting and benefit rules.  A plan sponsor will also not be required to make matching or nonelective 
contributions on behalf of such employees, and could continue to impose a requirement that the employee attain age 
21 before participating in the plan.  Also, in the case of such employees, each 12-month period for which the 
employee has at least 500 hours of service shall be treated as a year of service for vesting purposes and will not be 
treated as a 1-year break in service. 
 
• The provision applies to plan years beginning after December 31, 2020, except that for purposes of the new 

eligibility criteria, 12-month periods beginning before January 1, 2021, will not be taken into account. 

• The provision applies to 401(k) defined contribution plans. 
 
Elimination of notice requirement for nonelective safe harbor 401(k) and 403(b) plans. The SECURE Act 
eliminates the safe harbor notice requirement with respect to nonelective 401(k) safe harbor plans and 403(b) safe 
harbor plans, including QACA safe harbor plans.  
 
Also under the provision, a plan can be amended to become a safe harbor nonelective plan after the start of a plan 
year (1) if elected up to 30 days before the end of the plan year or (2) on or after the 30th day before the end of the 
year, as long as the amendment is made by the close of the following plan year, and the nonelective contribution is 
at least 4%. 
 
• This provision is effective for plan years beginning after December 31, 2019. 

• The provision applies to nonelective safe harbor 401(k) defined contribution plans and 403(b) plans and those 
plans that are amended into nonelective safe harbor plans. 

 
Portability of lifetime income options. The SECURE Act allows 401(a)/(k) defined contribution plans, 403(b) 
plans, or governmental 457(b) plans can make a direct trustee-to-trustee transfer to another employer-sponsored 
retirement plan or IRA, or distributions of a lifetime income investment in the form of a qualified plan distribution 
annuity if a lifetime income investment is no longer authorized to be held as an investment option under the plan. 
 
• The provision applies to plan years beginning after December 31, 2019. 

• The provision applies to 401(a)/(k) defined contribution plans, 403(b) plans, and governmental 457(b) plans that 
have lifetime income investments. The provisions do not apply to defined benefit plans. 

• An employer must make an election to apply this provision. 
 
Withdrawals for birth or adoption of a child. Under the SECURE Act, plan sponsors may add a new distributable 
event for the birth or adoption of a child.  Qualified birth or adoption distributions must be made within the 1 year 
period following birth or adoption with a maximum distribution of $5,000 per individual child.   In addition, 
qualified birth or adoption distributions may be recontributed to an individual’s applicable eligible retirement plans, 
subject to certain requirements. If the new distributable event is elected, the plan must permit the participant to repay 
the amount distributed from the plan. 
 
Finally, regardless of distribution eligibility reason, if any distribution from an applicable eligible retirement plan 
would be a qualified birth or adoption distribution, the SECURE Act creates a new exception to the 10-percent early 
withdrawal tax.    
 
• The provision applies to plan years beginning after December 31, 2019. 

• The provision applies to 401(a)/401(k) defined contribution plans, 403(b) plans, and governmental 457(b) plans. 

• An employer must make an election to apply this provision. 

Page 15 of 162



 
Increase in cap for automatic enrollment/automatic escalation for QACA safe harbor 401(k)/403(b) plan. The 
10% limit on the default contribution rates under a qualified automatic contribution arrangement (QACA) safe 
harbor plan for automatic enrollment and automatic escalation is increased to 15% after the first plan year in which 
the employee is automatically enrolled.  In the first year, the default contribution rate still cannot exceed 10%. 
 
• This provision is effective for plan years beginning after December 31, 2019. 

• The provision applies to QACA safe harbor 401(k) and QACA safe harbor 403(b) plans. 

• An employer must make an election to apply this provision. 
 
Miners Act Provision  
In-service distributions for money purchase pension, defined benefit and governmental 457(b) plans. The 
Miners Act reduces the minimum age for in-service distribution from pension plans (i.e., money purchase and 
defined benefit plans) from age 62 to age 59½ and, for governmental 457(b) plans, from age 70½ to age 59½. 
 
• The provision applies to plan years beginning after December 31, 2019. 

• The provision applies to 401(a) money purchase, 401(a) defined benefit and governmental 457(b) plans. 

• An employer must make an election to apply this provision. 
   

Page 16 of 162



SECURE Act 
Optional Plan Provisions Checklist 

Governmental and Tax-Exempt 457(b) Plans 
 (Please complete one selection form per Plan.) 

Plan Sponsor Name:  
Plan Name:  
Corebridge Financial Plan ID (3-digit number):  
Corebridge Financial Employer (Group) ID (5-digit number): 

Please indicate by checking the applicable boxes below the optional plan provisions the plan sponsor directs 
Corebridge Financial to implement for the above Plan: 

1. [Mandatory] Increase in age for Required Beginning Date for required minimum distributions.

This provision is effective for distributions required to be made after December 31, 2019, with respect to
participants who attain age 70 ½ after such date.

This provision applies to both governmental and tax-exempt 457(b) plans.

2. [Mandatory] Change in post-death rules for defined contribution plans.

This provision applies to distributions with respect to participants who die after December 31, 2019
(December 31, 2021 for governmental plans).

This provision applies to governmental 457(b) plans (pending clarification of application to tax-exempt
457(b) plans).

3. [Mandatory] Prohibition from making loans through credit cards.

This provision is effective for participant loans made after December 20, 2019.

This provision applies only to governmental 457(b) plans. Tax-exempt 457(b) plans cannot allow
participant loans.

4.  [Optional] Portability of lifetime income options.

The provision applies to plan years beginning after December 31, 2019. 

The provision applies to governmental 457(b) plans that have lifetime income investments. 

An employer must make an election to apply this provision. 

5.  [Optional] Withdrawals for birth or adoption of a child.

The provision applies to plan years beginning after December 31, 2019. 

The provision applies to governmental 457(b) plans that elect to allow withdrawals for the birth or adoption 
of a child. 

An employer must make an election to apply this provision. 

With respect to the Plan, qualified birth or adoption distributions are available to Plan participants as of 
 [insert date no earlier than the first day of the Plan Year beginning after 

December 31, 2019]. 

Page 17 of 162



6.  [Optional] In-service distributions for governmental 457(b) plans. (Miners Act)

The provision applies to plan years beginning after December 31, 2019. 

The provision applies only to governmental 457(b) plans. 

An employer must make an election to apply this provision. 

With respect to the Plan, a participant may withdraw all or any portion of his/her vested account balance, 
upon the attainment of age _______ [may not be earlier than age 59½], effective as 
of ______________________  [insert date no earlier than the first day of the Plan Year beginning 
after December 31, 2019]. 

PLEASE NOTE: If Corebridge Financial is not providing plan document services for your Plan, you will need to 
provide your elections with respect to the above optional plan provisions, which could be by a copy of this Checklist, 
to your plan document provider and, if you are utilizing an IRS-approved prototype or volume submitter plan 
document, your elections may be subject to limitations in that document. 

The information in this Plan Sponsor Update and Optional Plan Provisions Checklist reflects authority and guidance 
at the time provided and could change as a result of future guidance.  The information is not intended as legal or tax 
advice and plan sponsors should consult their legal counsel for advice concerning their specific situation. 

By signing below, I represent that I am authorized to make the above elections for the Plan. 

Signature of Authorized Plan Representative 

Print Name 

Title 

Date 

Page 18 of 162



   SECURE ACT ELECTION FORM 

MissionSquare Plan Services   |   P.O. Box 219320   |   Kansas City, MO 64121-9320   |   Fax to: (844) 677-3297 

Use this form to adopt any of the provisions made available by The Setting Every Community Up for Retirement Enhancement (SECURE) Act of 2019 
and related legislation.

A. In-Service Distributions at Age 59.5

The Plan will permit in-service withdrawals at age 59.5 (NOTE: Not applicable to 401(a) Profit Sharing Plans, as this provision is already available in your 
plan. You can change the in-service distribution age by submitting a revised Adoption Agreement.) 

£ Yes £ No (“No” is the default provision under the Plan if no selection is made.) 
B. Qualified Birth and Adoption Distribution

The plan will permit participants to receive, upon written request, a distribution of up to $5,000 per qualifying birth or adoption (not to exceed 
$5,000 across all retirement accounts of the participant. (Note to 401(a) Money Purchase Plan Sponsors: such a withdrawal can only be undertaken if 
the participant meets the plan’s existing in-service withdrawal criteria.) 

Such a distribution is exempt from the 10% early distribution tax penalty and is exempt from the mandatory 20% withholding; and can be repaid into the account 
without regard to the usual 60-day time limit for rollovers if elected. A qualified adoption distribution would be limited to the adoption of children who are under age 18 
or who are physically or mentally incapable of self-support. 

£ Yes £ No (“No” is the default provision under the Plan if no selection is made.) 

401(a) Money Purchase Plan and 401(a) Profit Sharing Plan Sponsors Only: Please indicate whether you wish to waive the limit of two 
in-service withdrawals per year to allow for one or more Qualified Birth and Adoption distribution. 

£ Yes  £ No (“No” is the default provision under the Plan if no selection is made.) 

If you elect to offer a Qualified Birth and Adoption distribution, please indicate whether plan participants will be able to roll a Qualified Birth 
and Adoption distribution back into the plan regardless of whether the plan allows for other incoming rollovers. 

£ Yes  £ No (“Yes” is the default provision under the Plan if no selection is made.) 

C. MissionSquare Retirement Income Advantage In-Service Distribution (NOTE: only applicable to plans that have the MissionSquare
Retirement Income Advantage as an available investment option).

In the event the MissionSquare Retirement Income Advantage Fund is no longer an investment option under the plan, a Participant shall, upon 
written request, be permitted to roll these assets to another plan. Such a distribution can be undertaken regardless of the participants eligibility 
pertaining to in-service distributions.  

£ Yes £ No (“No” is the default provision under the Plan if no selection is made.) 

By signing below, we intend to amend the plan to allow these procedures as of the date below or as soon as administratively feasible. Please submit 
one form per plan number. 

Employer Plan Number: ____________________        Employer Plan Name: ________________________________________________ 

Signature of Authorized Plan Representative:  

Print Name:               Title:     Date: ____/____/______ (MM/DD/YYY) 

This form can be returned online, by fax, or mail using the information below. 

Online: Submit through secure messaging to: 
www.employers.msqplanservices.org 

Fax to:    MissionSquare Plan Services 
 (844) 677-3297 

Mail to: MissionSquare Plan Services 
P.O. Box 219320 
Kansas City, MO 64121-9320 

59006-1022-W2624 

Page 19 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Rail Trail Referendum discussion Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
ARTICLE 35: Rail Trail Referendum 
To see if the Town is in favor, in the future, of raising and appropriating the total amount up to 
$336,000 over three successive fiscal years (2026, 2027, and 2028) to serve as the required 
match for a New Hampshire Department of Transportation grant for a new rail trail two plus 
miles in length and extending from Walnut Hill Road to Baboosic Lake Road, with a spur to the 
Meeting Place Mall, with construction estimated to begin in 2027 and completion estimated in 
2029. The NH DOT grant requires a 20% match from the Town; the NH DOT is offering to 
provide a grant in the amount of $1.346M. If supported by the voters, the Board of Selectmen 
will enter into an agreement with NH DOT and will come back to the voters with a request for 
funding at a future Town meeting. (Advisory only) (No Tax impact) (Majority vote required). 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None 
 

Page 20 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: BOS Action Items Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. BOS Action Items 2024 - as of 2-26-24 
 

Page 21 of 162



AMHERST BOS ACTION ITEMS

ITEM
CREATION 
DATE

DUE 
DATE

PERSONS 
RESPONSIBLE NOTES

1 BOS discuss village truck traffic ban 5/8/23 3/18/24 Dean, Chief 
Ciampoli

Obtain Highway Safety Committee recommendations, 
including draft ordinance.

2 Ensure AFR Solar Panels Functioning and Town is Receiving Net-
Metering credit

2/12/24 3/18/24 Dean, Chief 
Conley

3 Written request for impact fee expenditure for Buck Meadow 
Engineering per policy

11/20/23 3/18/24 Craig

4 Discussions re revision to Mont Vernon Ambulance Contract 6/26/23 3/18/24 Danielle, Dean Prepare for and commence negotiations

5
TF I private home well test results to assist BOS in decisions on 
potential connection to public water 5/8/23 3/18/24 Dean

Dean circulate Map (completed).  State conclusion on 
"Fingerprint" determination by S-H/DES on wells.

6 Sanborn-Head Report/Recommendations re Fire Station 
Remediation

10/10/23 3/18/24 Dean Status of Report/Recommendations.  Preliminary Cost 
Estimate if possible

7 BOS discuss use of ARPA Funds 5/22/23 3/18/24 BOS Timing of commitment requirement (12/31/24) vs. PFAS 
usage

8 Provide recommendations on who should conduct assessment 
of Tower Truck

12/18/23 3/18/24 Chief Conley

9 Make inquiries re improving cell service in village 7/24/23 3/18/24 Peter, Danielle, 
Dean

Status regarding obtaining a company funded tower

10 Status of TF I Property Quiet Title Effort 10/10/23 3/18/24 Dean Court filing authorized. Check with T. Quinn re status

11
Send letter to German Market group requesting payment of 
town expenses 2/26/24 4/1/24 Dean

12 Chestnut Hill traffic study/Highway Safety status 11/6/23 4/1/24 Dean, Chief 
Ciampoli

Need additional information from NRPC

13 Review of Town Common Usage Policy 12/11/23 4/1/24 BOS
14 Begin Semiquincentennial Planning 9/25/23 4/1/24 Danielle Update

15 Draft Changes to retirement policy to reflect 457(b) and NHRS 
changes

1/22/24 5/1/24 Dean, Jennifer

16 Advise BOS of Ambulance Usage and Cost information, 
separately for each of the three ambulances

5/8/23 5/1/24 Chief Conley

17 Review Personnel Funded through -02 Account 12/11/23 6/10/24 Bill BOS and Rec make decisions before next budget cycle
18 Civil Engineering on-Call Contract - Report on FY24 Usage 9/11/23 7/15/24 Eric Compare usage of two awardees

Page 22 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: DPW- Request for Authorization to 
expend CRF funds 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact: Eric Slosek  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The computer server at DPW has been identified by Microtime as needing replacement. 
The server is nearing the end-of-life, and is nearly at storage capacity.  Microtime has 
provided us a quote for its replacement. They are recommending moving to a cloud-
based system instead of replacing the hardware. The cloud-based system offers 
several advantages over physical hardware.  It would no longer require use of VPNs to 
access system files remotely. This would be done by logging in to the secure 
website.  A cloud-based system would require less maintenance, and eliminate the 
need for replacement of the server in future years.   
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
$7,575.00 from Computer System CRF ($29,427.44 Principal Value as of 1-31-2024) 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Recommend authorizing the use of CRF funds to complete cloud-based server 
replacement. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to authorize DPW to expend $7,575.00 from the "Computer System" capital 
reserve fund to complete a cloud-based computer server replacement at DPW. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 2024.02.15 DPW CLoud Conversion quote 
2. 1-31-24 CRF Balances 
 

Page 23 of 162



We have prepared a quote for you

Cloud Solution DPW

Quote # 005850 v1

Prepared for:

Town of Amherst NH

Prepared by:

Christine Blais

40 Shattuck Road Suite 210
Andover, MA 01810

Page 24 of 162



Thursday, February 15, 2024

Town of Amherst NH
Jennifer Stover
22 Dodge Road
Department of Public Works
Amherst, NH  03031
jstover@amherstnh.gov

Dear Jennifer,

Cloud Solution For DPW

Licensing:  

Licensing will continue though SHI. 

Hardware:

No hardware is needed.

Labor:

Cloud Migration Services: 

Phase 1: Azure Setup - Tier 2

1. Configure Azure AD - leave the current domain
2. Join all Workstations to Azure AD

Phase 2: SharePoint Cloud Migration - Tier 2

1. Move Shares to SharePoint
2. Configure Workstations to access SharePoint

Phase 3: Other Network Configuration - Tier 2

1. Setup Print Services
2. Move DHCP/DNS to SonicWall
3. Migrate unifi controller to cloud controller
4. Decommission and removal of old server

Phase 4: Education - Tier 2

1. User Education

Labor provided in this quote serves as an estimate and actual will be billed. 

General Proposal Notes:

 The pricing provided is available as an estimate if the hardware is procured through Microtime Computers.  If hardware is 
purchased elsewhere, the labor for this project will be charged at time & materials. 

 This project will be managed by our Project Management Team, which will provide an ETA on the initial project scope, 
along with regular updates as the project is underway.

 This project is scoped at business hours rates.  If the project is required to be worked after hours, after hour rates 

Page: 2 of 6Quote#005850 v1 Page 25 of 162



(typically time and a half of the engineer's hourly business rate) will apply.

 Hardware prices may be subject to change and availability. Additionally, as with any project, additional hardware 
components may be needed and billed separately.

 Please note that this is an estimate and labor time is estimate and will be billed at actual labor performed.

 Labor is governed by our standard Statement of Work.

 Any lodging or travel expenses will be billable. Lodging will be invoiced at cost.

 If applicable, any discounts on monthly products will expire at the end of your agreement term. 

Let me know if you have any questions.

Thanks! 

Christine Blais

Microtime Computers, Inc.

Page: 3 of 6Quote#005850 v1 Page 26 of 162



Services

Description Price Qty Ext. Price

Cloud Migration

Services

Cloud Conversion

Phase 1: Azure Setup - Tier 2: $1575

1. Configure Azure AD - leave the current domain
2. Join all Workstations to Azure AD

Phase 2: SharePoint Cloud Migration - Tier 2: $3400

1. Move Shares to SharePoint
2. Configure Workstations to access SharePoint

Phase 3: Other Network Configuration - Tier 2: $1750

1. Setup Print Services
2. Move DHCP/DNS to SonicWall
3. Migrate unifi controller to cloud controller
4. Decommission and removal of old server

Phase 4: Education - Tier 2: $350

1. User Education

Project Management: $500

This is just an estimate and actual will be billed. 

$7,575.00 1 $7,575.00

Subtotal: $7,575.00

Page: 4 of 6Quote#005850 v1 Page 27 of 162



Cloud Solution DPW

Prepared by: Prepared for: Quote Information:

Microtime Computers, Inc. Town of Amherst NH Quote #: 005850

Christine Blais
6036727076
Fax 603-672-7120
cblais@microtimecomputers.com

22 Dodge Road
Department of Public Works
Amherst, NH  03031
Jennifer Stover
(603) 673-6041
jstover@amherstnh.gov

Version: 1
Delivery Date: 02/15/2024
Expiration Date: 02/29/2024

Quote Summary

Description Amount

Services $7,575.00

Total: $7,575.00

Payment Options

Description Payments Interval Amount

Term Options

Product Terms 1 One-Time $7,575.00

Summary of Selected Payment Options

Description Amount

Term Options: Product Terms

Total of Payments $7,575.00

This Order will be deemed accepted once the proposal is signed either digitally or a paper copy is received. All services outlined
in this proposal are governed by our current Master Services Agreement that can be found as an attachment at: <b><a
href="https://microtime-computers.itglue.com/872693/docs/5750707#documentMode=edit&version=published"> Master Services
Agreement</a></b>. Accepting this proposal means you accept and agree to our Master Services Agreement.
Full payment of products and one half of services must be received prior to the ordering  and/or installation of any products. The
second half of services must be received upon completion of installation. Taxes, shipping, handling and other fees may apply. We
reserve the right to cancel orders arising from pricing or other errors.

Taxes, shipping, handling and other fees may apply.  We reserve the right to cancel orders arising from pricing or other errors.

Page: 5 of 6Quote#005850 v1 Page 28 of 162



Microtime Computers, Inc. Town of Amherst NH

Signature:

Name: Christine Blais

Title:

Date: 02/15/2024

Signature:

Name: Jennifer Stover

Date:

Page: 6 of 6Quote#005850 v1 Page 29 of 162



TOWN OF AMHERST, NH

REPORT OF THE TRUSTEES OF TRUST FUNDS

CAPITAL RESERVE FUND (ACCOUNT NUMBER XXX0225)

FOR YEAR ENDING: 06/30/2024

AS OF: 01/31/2024

FUND NAME PURPOSE
DATE OF 

CREATION

PRINCIPAL 
BEGIN COST 

BALANCE

PRINCIPAL 
NEW FUNDS

PRINCIPAL 
REALIZED 

GAINS

PRINCIPAL
FEES

PRINCIPAL 
WITHDRAWALS

PRINCIPAL 
ENDING

COST BALANCE

PRINCIPAL 
ENDING FAIR 

VALUE

INCOME 
BEGIN 

BALANCE
INCOME

INCOME 
FEES 

INCOME 
EXPENDED

INCOME 
ENDING 

BALANCE

TOTAL COST 
PRINCIPAL & 

INCOME

AMBULANCE FUND POLICE/FIRE 3/1/2011 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

AMHERST MULTIMODAL FACILITIES CAPITAL RESERVE (OTHER) 6/8/2021 143,498.09 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 143,900.98 143,756.68 0.00 402.89 0.00 0.00 0.00 143,900.98

AMHERST SCHOOL DISTRICT CAPITAL FACILITIES FD MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR 3/1/2003 2,112,618.12 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,118,549.55 2,116,425.05 0.00 5,931.43 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,118,549.55

AMHERST SCHOOL DISTRICT EDU STUDENTS W DISABILITIES FD EDUCATIONAL PURPOSES 3/1/2003 326,615.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 327,532.05 327,203.60 0.00 917.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 327,532.05

ASSESSING REVALUATION FUND CAPITAL RESERVE (OTHER) 3/9/2004 98,774.28 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 99,051.60 98,952.27 0.00 277.32 0.00 0.00 0.00 99,051.60

BRIDGE REPAIR AND REPLACEMENT FD MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR 3/9/2010 816,573.76 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 818,866.39 818,045.23 0.00 2,292.63 0.00 0.00 0.00 818,866.39

COMMUNICATION FUND CAPITAL RESERVE (OTHER) 3/14/2006 128,830.08 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 129,191.79 129,062.24 0.00 361.71 0.00 0.00 0.00 129,191.79

COMPUTER SYSTEM CAPITAL RESERVE (OTHER) 3/13/2007 51,882.34 0.00 0.00 0.00 (22,507.83) 29,456.98 29,427.44 0.00 82.47 0.00 0.00 0.00 29,456.98

DPW VEHICLES & EQUIPMENT ACQUISITION & REPLACEMENT MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR 6/8/2021 306,879.39 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 307,740.99 307,432.39 0.00 861.60 0.00 0.00 0.00 307,740.99

FIRE RESCUE VEHICLE & EQUIPMENT PURCHASE & REPAIR POLICE/FIRE 3/1/1999 839,716.63 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 842,074.23 841,229.79 0.00 2,357.60 0.00 0.00 0.00 842,074.23

HIGHWAY EQUIPMENT FUND CAPITAL RESERVE (OTHER) 3/8/1977 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

RECREATION FIELD ACQ/CONSTR FD PARKS/RECREATION 3/13/2007 131,315.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 131,683.72 131,551.67 0.00 368.68 0.00 0.00 0.00 131,683.72

SOUHEGAN COOP SCHOOL DISTRICT MAINTENANCE MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR 3/1/2004 760,820.82 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 762,956.91 762,191.81 0.00 2,136.09 0.00 0.00 0.00 762,956.91

SOUHEGAN COOP SCHOOL DISTRICT UNFUNDED LIABILITIES EDUCATIONAL PURPOSES 3/1/2004 56,626.11 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 56,785.09 56,728.15 0.00 158.98 0.00 0.00 0.00 56,785.09

SOUHEGAN COOP SCHOOL DISTRICT TECHNOLOGY FUND Educational Purposes 3/28/2023 25,455.26 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 25,526.73 25,501.13 0.00 71.47 0.00 0.00 0.00 25,526.73

TOTALS 5,799,604.96 0.00 0.00 0.00 (22,507.83) 5,793,317.01 5,787,507.45 0.00 16,219.88 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,793,317.01

PRINCIPAL INCOME

MS 9
Prpared By Wealth Management Operations

3/4/2024

Page 30 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: DPW-Road Work Bid Department: Public Works 
Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact: Eric Slosek  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
We recently solicited bids for our upcoming FY25 planned road work. We received bids 
from two companies, Pike Industries and Continental Paving. The bids we received 
were very close and competitive. Continental Paving had the low bid of $1,661,430.90. 
Their bid was $67,751.10 less than Pike's for a difference of 4.08%. Pike's bid was 
$1,729,182.00. Upon tabulation and comparison of the bids, it was observed that our 
prices have generally decreased as compared to last year's pricing. Continental's bid 
represents a total decrease of 10.5% when comparing the requested pay items with 
their respective quantities using last year's prices. Pike's bid represented a 7.3% 
decrease over last year's prices. The asphalt paving items are the largest pay items by 
far. Paving items represent approximately 57% of the total base bids. For the purposes 
of bid comparison, the asphalt pricing was very competitive. The total price difference 
for these items between Pike and Continental was approximately 2.4%.  
 
In summary, we have generally had good experiences with both companies. Both 
companies are listed on the NH DOT pre-qualified contractor's list for road construction. 
For the reasons mentioned above, we recommend the BOS to award the DPW05-24 
contract to the low bidder, Continental Paving, Inc., for the amount of $1.594M. Our 
approved FY25 road construction budget is $1.5M. The BOS also approved the use of 
an additional $94K in FY24 "extra block-grant" money. This brings the total road 
construction funding amount in FY25 to $1.594M. The DPW05-24 road contract gives 
the Town the right to change the scope of work in the contract to stay within our 
available budget. The contract states "The Town reserves the right to remove or 
replace roads in the program as needs arise, or to cease work on the project in the 
event that all dedicated monies have been expended. Approximately $1.6M of work will 
need to be accomplished in FY2025." 
 
The advertised bid with addendums and revised bid schedule can be found 
here: https://www.amherstnh.gov/public-works/news/bid-opportunities  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
01-4312-70-2735 (Road Rebuild) - $1.5M ; $94,204.42 (Extra Block-Grant)= 
$1,594,204.42 total. 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  

Page 31 of 162

https://www.amherstnh.gov/public-works/news/bid-opportunities


  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Recommend to award the road work contract to Continental Paving, Inc. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to award the DPW05-24 Multi-Road Construction contract, in the amount of 
$1,594,204.42, to Continental Paving, Inc. for work on various town roads utilizing the 
unit prices submitted with their bid. I further authorize the DPW Director to sign the 
related contract documents. This work is planned to commence in FY2025 upon award. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. DPW05-24 Award Form 
2. Continental Paving Inc 
3. Pike Industries 
 

Page 32 of 162



TOWN OF AMHERST
         

Town Department:   DPW Date:  March 6, 2024

Line Item 01-4312-70-2735 Budget Amount: $1,594,204.42

Bid #:  DPW05-24 Item:  Road Rebuild Date bid to be awarded:  March 18, 2024

          Vendor                                    Price                            Total                        Other Considerations
                                                                                                                                    

Recommend bid be awarded to:  Continental Paving, Inc.
                                                                                                                                         Signature of Town Administrator / Date

This bid was posted on the Town of Amherst website, Construction Summary of NH, ME, and VT, NH Municipal and Dodge Data & 
Analytics.

Attached to this request is a copy of the specifications and proposal from the lowest qualified bidder.
Please forward, for review purposes, a copy of bids in excess of $10,000.00 to the Board of Selectmen at least one week prior to a vote 
of the Board of Selectmen.

          
1. Continental Paving Inc.                                                             $1,661,430.90             

          
      2.  Pike Industries                                                                          $1,729,182.00    

            
                   

   
                       
                   

                   
.

                     

Page 33 of 162



Page 34 of 162



Page 35 of 162



Page 36 of 162



Page 37 of 162



Page 38 of 162



Page 39 of 162



Page 40 of 162



Page 41 of 162



Page 42 of 162



Page 43 of 162



Page 44 of 162



Page 45 of 162



Page 46 of 162



Page 47 of 162



Page 48 of 162



Page 49 of 162



Page 50 of 162



Page 51 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: DPW- PD Roof Bid Department: Public Works 
Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact: Eric Slosek  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
We recently solicited bids for replacement of the PD roof. This project had been 
planned but was postponed until the PD renovation was completed. We received seven 
bids for this project. The bids received were all very close in price. The low bid was 
$27,140.00, the highest bid was $35,499.00. The BOS approved a request by DPW to 
use up to $70K in ARPA funds for this project. We recommend the BOS award the 
DPW06-24 roofing bid to JB Roofing Systems, LLC. JB Roofing Systems, LLC was the 
low bid.  
The advertised bid can be found here: 
https://www.amherstnh.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif4116/f/uploads/complete_dpw06-24.pdf 
  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
$27,140.00 from ARPA 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Recommend to award bid to JB Roofing Systems, LLC. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to award the DPW06-24 Police Department Roof bid to JB Roofing Systems, 
LLC, in the amount of $27,140.00. I further authorize the DPW Director to sign all 
related contract documents. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. DPW06-24 award 
2. JB Roofing 
3. Queen City 
4. Adam Vaillancourt Roofing 
5. JJS Universal 
6. Superior Structure LLC 

Page 52 of 162

https://www.amherstnh.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif4116/f/uploads/complete_dpw06-24.pdf


7. A1 Siding&Roofing 
8. Peter DeSalvo Contracting_001 
 

Page 53 of 162



TOWN OF AMHERST
         

Town Department:   DPW Date:  March 8, 2024

Line Item: ARPA Budget Amount: $70,000.00

Bid #:  DPW06-24 Item:  Police Dept Roof Date Bid to Be Awarded:  March 18, 2024

          Vendor                                    Price                            Total                        Other Considerations                                                                                                                                

7.  DeSalvo Contracting           $29,500.00                  $65.00 per sheet of plywood

Recommend bid be awarded to:  J B Roofing Systems, LLC
                                                                                                                                         Signature of Town Administrator / Date

This bid was posted on the Town of Amherst website, Construction Summary of NH, ME, and VT, NH Municipal and Dodge Data & 
Analytics.

Please attach to this request a copy of the specifications and proposal from the lowest qualified bidder.
Please forward, for review purposes, a copy of bids in excess of $10,000.00 to the Board of Selectmen at least one week prior to a vote 
of the Board of Selectmen.  

          
1.  Queen City Roofing LLC                                                              $29,900.00                 $85.00 per sheet of plywood
          
2.   Adam Vaillancourt Roofing LLC                                                   $27,499.00               $100.00 per sheet of plywood                                                          

            
                   

3.   JJS Universal Construction Company                                          $27,500.00               $140.00 per sheet of plywood      
                       
                   

4.   Superior Structures, LLC                                                              $35,499.00                 $75.00 per sheet of plywood 
                   
.

                     

5.   JB Roofing Systems, LLC                                                            $27,140.00                  $81.60 per sheet of plywood

6.   A1 Siding & Roofing                                                                     $29,900.00                $100.00 per sheet of plywood

Page 54 of 162



Page 55 of 162



Page 56 of 162



Page 57 of 162



Page 58 of 162



Page 59 of 162



Page 60 of 162



Page 61 of 162



Page 62 of 162



Page 63 of 162



Page 64 of 162



Page 65 of 162



Page 66 of 162



Page 67 of 162



Page 68 of 162



Page 69 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: DPW- Church Steeple Painting Bid Department: Public Works 
Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact: Eric Slosek  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
We recently solicited bids for the painting of the Town-owned Congregational Church 
steeple and bell tower. This includes refinishing the clock faces. It has been several 
years since the church painted their portion of the building. The steeple is in desperate 
need of paint to prevent further deterioration, which would result in more costly repairs. 
We received two qualified bids from contractors. A third bid did not submit a bid security 
with their bid and therefore was disqualified. A bid security in the amount of $500 was 
required for bids exceeding $25,000. 
 
The two qualified bids received were from Scholar Paint & Restoration, and Target New 
England Restorations. The bid amounts were $92,320 and $57,760 respectively. Both 
contractors submitted portfolios containing examples of projects they have 
completed.  Both contractors are well qualified with experience working on historical 
structures. We recommend awarding the bid to Target New England Restorations. They 
are a well qualified company located in Alton Bay, NH. They had the qualified low bid. 
Target New England Restorations was the sole bidder of this project in February 
2022.  Their bid at that time was $76,680. 
 
Funding for this project has not yet been established. We unsuccessfully applied for the 
moose plate grant last year. The BOS earmarked $70K of ARPA money for the PD roof 
project. We just received bids for the roof project and are recommending the low bid 
which was $27,140. We recommend that the BOS uses the balance of these 
earmarked ARPA funds, totaling $42,860, toward the balance of the Church Steeple 
Painting. We propose to cover the remaining balance of $14,900 using unused funds 
identified in the FY24 salt budget.  
 
The advertised bid can be found 
here: https://www.amherstnh.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif4116/f/uploads/dpw01-24_bid_0.pdf  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
$42,860 (ARPA); $14,900 (SALT-01-4312-60-2662) 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 

Page 70 of 162

https://www.amherstnh.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif4116/f/uploads/dpw01-24_bid_0.pdf


Recommend to award contract to Target New England Restorations. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to award DPW01-24, the Congregational Church Steeple Painting project, to 
Target New England Restorations, for the amount of $57,760. Funding for the project 
will come from $42,860 in ARPA funds, and $14,900 from the FY24 Highway budget. I 
further authorize the DPW Director to sign the related contract documents. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. DPW01-24 award form 
2. Target New England 
3. Scholar Painting & Restoration 
4. IM Painting 
 

Page 71 of 162



TOWN OF AMHERST
         

Town Department:   DPW Date:  March 8, 2024

Line Item:  TBD Budget Amount: 

Bid #:  DPW01-24 Item:  Congo Church Steeple Date Bid To Be Awarded:  March 18, 2024

          Vendor                                    Price                            Total                        Other Considerations
                                                                                                                                    

Recommend bid be awarded to:  Target New England Restorations
                                                                                                                                         Signature of Town Administrator / Date

This bid was posted on the Town of Amherst website, Construction Summary of NH, ME, and VT, NH Municipal and Dodge Data & 
Analytics.

Attached to this request is a copy of the specifications and proposal from the lowest qualified bidder.
Please forward, for review purposes, a copy of bids in excess of $10,000.00 to the Board of Selectmen at least one week prior to a vote 
of the Board of Selectmen.  

          
1. Im Painting                                                                                    $48,400.00                        No bid bond                    

          
2. Scholar Paint & Restoration                                                          $92,320.00                                                        

            
                   

     3.   Target New England Restorations                                                $57,760.00    
                       
                   
                   
.

                     

. 

Page 72 of 162



Page 73 of 162



Page 74 of 162



Page 75 of 162



Page 76 of 162



Page 77 of 162



Page 78 of 162



Page 79 of 162



Page 80 of 162



Page 81 of 162



Page 82 of 162



Page 83 of 162



Page 84 of 162



Page 85 of 162



Page 86 of 162



Page 87 of 162



Page 88 of 162



Page 89 of 162



Page 90 of 162



Page 91 of 162



Page 92 of 162



Page 93 of 162



Page 94 of 162



Page 95 of 162



Page 96 of 162



Page 97 of 162



Page 98 of 162



Page 99 of 162



Page 100 of 162



Page 101 of 162



Page 102 of 162



Page 103 of 162



Page 104 of 162



Page 105 of 162



Page 106 of 162



Page 107 of 162



Page 108 of 162



Page 109 of 162



Page 110 of 162



Page 111 of 162



Page 112 of 162



Page 113 of 162



Page 114 of 162



Page 115 of 162



Page 116 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Land Bond for purchase/refinance Department: Finance Department 
Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact: Debbie Bender  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
New information on options with NH Municipal Bond Bank 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
It would be a savings over 20 years of approximately $250,000 for each $2million bond 
by financing at a lower rate. 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
The NH Municipal Bond Bank had some very attractive rates for July 2023 and January 
2024 bond issue dates. I think this is something that the Board should consider for the 
July 2024 Curran land purchase and for the refinancing of the other two land 
purchases. Attached is an information sheet on the NHMBB, the July 2024 Sale 
Schedule and an estimated payment schedule for borrowing $2million for 20 years at 
3.5%. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. NHMBB - Program Review 
2. NHMBB July_2024 Sale Schedule 
3. NHMBB - Estimated Schedule - Amherst 2M 20yrs 
 

Page 117 of 162



Reserve Fund
Each Bond Bank issue is supported by a reserve fund, 
which enhances the bond security by providing
funds for payment of debt service in the event that 
any one of the participating governmental units
defaults in its payments.

Moral Obligation to Replenish Debt Service 
Reserve Fund
Although the Bond Bank’s bonds are not guaranteed
by the State, the law provides a procedure for the 
Bank to request an advance of State funds, at no
interest cost.  If the amount in the reserve fund falls
below the legally required amount, due to failure

PROGRAM 
OVERVIEW

NHMBBNew Hampshire
Municipal Bond Bank

A  P O O L E D  M U N I C I P A L  B O N D I N G  P R O G R A M

CONTACT
The Bond Bank staff is always willing to meet with 
community officials or committees, either at our 
office in Concord or at any location convenient to 
the community for day or evening meetings. 
To schedule a meeting, details on our schedule,
current interest rates, or for any additional
information, please contact the Bond Bank.

New Hampshire Municipal Bond Bank
25 Triangle Park Drive

Concord, New Hampshire 03301
Tel: 603-271-2595 or

800-393-6422 (toll-free in NH)
Fax: 603-271-3937

E-Mail: info@nhmbb.com
Web Site: www.nhmbb.org

of payments by participating governmental units, 
the Bond Bank’s Chairman will submit a request to 
the State for the amount required to replenish the
reserve fund.  The State legislature will consider the
request, but is not bound or obligated to appropri-
ate the amount requested by the Bond Bank.

Prepayments
It is not economical for a municipality to repay a
bond early because bonds are issued on a pooled
basis.  It is very expensive to separate a municipality 
from the pool.  The NHMBB is constantly monitoring 
the pool for refunding opportunities in which the 
savings are returned to the community.

TAX-EXEMPT FINANCING PROGRAM

“The Town of East Kingston has worked closely with the NHMBB
in acquiring bonds for conservation easements and to build a 
new police station. The borrowing process went very smoothly 
thanks to the expertise of the Bond Bank staff. We truly enjoyed 
working with them and would highly recommend the NHMBB to 
all municipalities.”

- Deborah G. Gallant, Administrative Assistant, Town of East 
Kingston

“The New Hampshire Municipal Bond 
Bank has proven itself to be a worthy 
partner in helping the City of Lebanon 
with borrowing funds.  The NHMBB’s 
considerable expertise and profession-
alism have greatly facilitated the bor-
rowing process, thus enabling the City to 
better serve the citizens of Lebanon.” 

- Len Jarvi, Treasurer/Finance Director, 
City of Lebanon

“On a number of occasions I have included the Bond Bank in my requests for proposals, which included the major private 
banking institutions doing business in New Hampshire at the time.  After careful analysis, you have always been chosen 
due to the Bond Bank’s ease of use and excellent customer service standards.

The Bond Bank has seen me through the construction of a number of large projects which include a wastewater treat-
ment facility and a new high school, as well as many others of a smaller magnitude.  I look forward to working with the 
Bond Bank in the future.”

- Peter A. Chamberlin/Director of Finance, Town of Wolfeboro

The mission of the New Hampshire  
Municipal Bond Bank is to provide  
professional services to assist qualified 
New Hampshire entities in obtaining 
financing for eligible purposes.

To meet its mission, the New Hampshire 
Municipal Bond Bank is committed to:

• Financial stability
• Strong client relations
•  Obtaining the lowest possible

borrowing rates
• An efficient application process
•  Maintaining strong credit ratings

and financial market access
•  A well-trained team of professional

staff & consultants
•  Supporting best possible public

finance practices
•  Meeting the requirements of all

applicable state and federal laws,
particularly RSA:35-A

Page 118 of 162



ISSUANCE FREQUENCY
Historically, the Bond Bank issues its bonds to make loans
to local governments twice each year, in January and June,
with more frequent issues if community demand exists.  

FLEXIBLE MATURITY SCHEDULES
The Bond Bank offers communities significant flexibility 
in loan terms and amortization of principal, within the 
requirements of RSA 33:2, including level principle 
and level debt service.  Bond Bank loans are available 
in a variety of maturities designed to meet each local 
government’s specific needs, ranging from 2 to 30 years. 

LOAN APPLICATION AND 
FINANCING PROCESS
To be eligible to participate in our pooled bond issue, each 
applicant must obtain voter approval as required by NH 
State Statutes, legal opinion from a Bond Bank approved 
bond counsel firm, and three years of financial audits com-
pleted by an independent CPA firm.

The Bond Sale Process
The NH Municipal Bond Bank combines all approved bor-
rowers into a single pooled bond issue when it is ready 
to enter the national bond market.  Bond documents are 
submitted and reviewed by the rating agencies.  The offi-
cial statement is compiled, printed, and submitted to sev-
eral investment firms who respond with competitive bids
on sale day.  On the day of closing, the bond proceeds are
deposited and made available to the participating mu-
nicipalities.  The Bond Bank provides each participating
community with final financing schedules after interest 
rates have been determined by the sale.

Loan Application
Communities interested in obtaining a loan from the Bond 
Bank work together with the Bond Bank staff to complete 
a loan application.  The application requests basic financial 
information on the proposed loan, including the purpose 
of the loan, total project cost, funding sources and project  

status.  In addition, the application requests financial 
background information similar to that provided by a 
community for an annual report, including governmental 
employment, tax rate, levy and assessments, tax collection 
history, and a schedule of existing debt.  Audited financial 
statements are required of all borrowers.

Application Approval Process
In considering loan requests by governmental units, the 
application is reviewed and summarized by the Bond Bank 
staff and a recommendation is presented to the Board of
Directors for their approval.  The Bond Bank generally ap-
proves loans if it believes that the local government, whose 
municipal bonds the Bond Bank is purchasing, has the ability 
to repay its loan from the Bond Bank on a timely basis by the
levy of ad valorem taxes.  Once approved for a loan by our 
Board of Directors, the local governmental unit executes a 
loan agreement with the Bond Bank accompanied by the
opinion of the local government’s bond counsel.

OTHER BOND BANK PROGRAMS

Bond Anticipation Note (BANs)
Prior to the bond sale, municipalities can use interim 
financing from local banks in the form of a Bond Anticipa-
tion Note (BAN) to fund the project’s cash flow.  BANs are 
generally issued for periods up to one year and the Bond 
Bank can assist communities in issuing them. BANs can 
also be issued if a community needs financing for a project 
in stages, but wants to issue the permanent financing 
once.  The Bond Bank will send out a request for proposal 
to local banks in NH and arrange a sale date.  When the 
bids are received at the Bond Bank, we then work with the 
winning bidder and the community to close the loan.

Revenue Bond Programs
In addition to its municipal finance programs, the Bond 
Bank administers tax-exempt revenue bond programs for 
New Hampshire public utilities, small-scale power facilities, 
certain private schools, and educational institutions offer-
ing elementary or secondary education programs whose 
tuitions are paid by municipalities or school districts in 
which the students live.

Refundings
The Bond Bank has also played an effective role in refunding its 
debt in times of falling interest rates and returning substantial 
savings to its participants.  The Bond Bank and its financial 
advisors constantly monitor the capital markets for refunding 
opportunities.  When interest rates are low enough to achieve a 
threshold level of savings, the Bond Bank refunds its bonds and 
returns savings to its participants.  The Bond Bank has refinanced 
$1.1 Billion in bonds with over $70.7 million of the refinanced 
savings rebated back to borrowers.  

Over the years, the Bond Bank’s role in 
New Hampshire municipal finance has grown.  
The annual volume of Bond Bank loans to 
communities was $120 million in 2017.  

HISTORY OF
FINANCING PROGRAM

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
James Gerry, Chairman
Paul Mansour, Vice-Chairman
Mark Decoteau, Treasurer
Monica Mezzapelle, State Treasurer,Ex-
Officio Director 
Lisa Ambrosio, Director
 Tammy J. St. Gelais, Executive Director/ 
Secretary

Hilltop Securities Inc., Financial Advisor 
Locke Lord LLP, Bond Counsel 
US Bank, Trustee 
Baker Newman Noyes, Financial Auditors

Since its inception, the Bond Bank has 
provided cities, towns, counties, 
school districts, and other local gov-
ernmental units in New Hampshire 
with $2.99 billion in tax-exempt 
bonds.  The Bond Bank has made 
1,339 loans in its 113 bond issues to 
over 339 different governmental units 
statewide, many of which have 
borrowed from the Bond Bank  several 
times.

PROGRAM
DESCRIPTION

The Bond Bank, acting on behalf of 
cities, towns, counties, school districts, 
and other local governmental units, 
sells its highly rated bonds, which are 
insured or backed by a reserve fund.  
The Bond Bank issues its bonds to 
investors and uses the bond pro-
ceeds to make loans to participating 
communities.  Participants benefit 
from low interest rates, the Bond 
Bank’s high investment grade ratings, 
reduced issuance and post issuance 
costs, and the considerably reduced 
administrative burden of issuance.

ELIGIBILITY
All local governmental entities, including cities, towns, counties, school 
districts, fire districts, water districts, sewer districts and village districts, are 
eligible for participation.    

BENEFITS TO MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENTS
Compared to a traditional public bond sale by a local governmental unit, 
the Bond Bank’s Tax-Exempt Financing Program offers communities and 
districts several advantages, including:

•  Competitive Interest Rates – Low interest rates created by the Bond Bank’s
highly rated bond issues, national bond market recognition, and ease of access.

•  Credit Enhancement and Security – As of the date of this report, the Bond
Bank is currently rated Aa2 by Moody’s Investors Service and AA+ by S&P Global.

•  Reduced Time Requirements – The local government does not have to
manage its own public sale of bonds.  Instead, the Bond Bank obtains funds
for the community’s loan by its own issuance of bonds.

•  Low Cost of Issuance – By participating in the Bond Bank program, a local
government is, in effect, pooling its borrowing with that of many other New
Hampshire local governments.  The Bond Bank includes the cost of issuance
in its bonds.  Since many costs of borrowing are fixed, this pooling spreads
fixed costs of issuance across all participating community loans, thereby
reducing the costs paid by each individual borrower.  The only out-of-pocket
costs the municipalities have to pay is to local bond counsel.

•  Fixed Interest Rates - Bonds are issued with fixed interest rates and bor-
rowers are protected against having their interest rates increased due to a
changing market.  If interest rates decline by a significant amount, the Bond
Bank can refund the existing bonds and pass savings on to the borrower.

•  Administrative Assistance – The Bond Bank provides assistance by explain-
ing the bond process, assists with the completion of the bond application,
and offers communities ongoing assistance in the review of planned maturity 
schedules.  The Bond Bank is able to provide participating communities with
detailed financing schedules showing the estimated repayment schedule
reflecting current market interest rates and total debt service on the commu-
nity’s loans.

•  Streamlined Borrowing Process – Once the application is approved, all the
municipality has to do is sign several loan documents prepared by their bond 
counsel and wait for the bond proceeds.  Local governments obtain their funds
without the considerable expense or burden of arranging their own financing. 

•  Disclosure Requirements – Currently, the only disclosure requirements for
communities borrowing from the Bond Bank are those contained in the Bond 
Bank’s application.  Participating communities do not have to prepare or print
their own official statements or obtain their own bond ratings or bond in-
surance.  Federal regulations require ongoing disclosure of each bond issuer.
Because the Bond Bank is the issuer, it is the Bank’s responsibility to meet the
annual disclosure requirements, not the municipal borrower.

 T he New Hampshire Municipal Bond Bank was established by the NH State Legislature in 1977 as 
an independent unit of state government administered by a Board of Directors that includes the State 
Treasurer, municipal government, and banking community representatives that are appointed by 
the Governor.  The New Hampshire Municipal Bond Bank has a three person full-time staff led by its 
Executive Director.  The staff, along with professional consultants, provide ongoing advice, administrative 
and loan application process assistance to local governments borrowing through the Bond Bank.

Page 119 of 162



ISSUANCE FREQUENCY
Historically, the Bond Bank issues its bonds to make loans 
to local governments twice each year, in January and July, 
with more frequent issues if community demand exists.  

FLEXIBLE MATURITY SCHEDULES
The Bond Bank offers communities significant flexibility 
in loan terms and amortization of principal, within the 
requirements of RSA 33:2, including level principle 
and level debt service.  Bond Bank loans are available 
in a variety of maturities designed to meet each local 
government’s specific needs, ranging from 2 to 30 years. 

LOAN APPLICATION AND 
FINANCING PROCESS
To be eligible to participate in our pooled bond issue, each 
applicant must obtain voter approval as required by NH 
State Statutes, legal opinion from a Bond Bank approved 
bond counsel firm, and three years of financial audits com-
pleted by an independent CPA firm.

The Bond Sale Process
The NH Municipal Bond Bank combines all approved bor-
rowers into a single pooled bond issue when it is ready 
to enter the national bond market.  Bond documents are 
submitted and reviewed by the rating agencies.  The offi-
cial statement is compiled, printed, and submitted to sev-
eral investment firms who respond with competitive bids 
on sale day.  On the day of closing, the bond proceeds are 
deposited and made available to the participating mu-
nicipalities.  The Bond Bank provides each participating 
community with final financing schedules after interest 
rates have been determined by the sale.

Loan Application
Communities interested in obtaining a loan from the Bond 
Bank work together with the Bond Bank staff to complete 
a loan application.  The application requests basic financial 
information on the proposed loan, including the purpose 
of the loan, total project cost, funding sources and project  

status.  In addition, the application requests financial 
background information similar to that provided by a 
community for an annual report, including governmental 
employment, tax rate, levy and assessments, tax collection 
history, and a schedule of existing debt.  Audited financial 
statements are required of all borrowers.

Application Approval Process
In considering loan requests by governmental units, the 
application is reviewed and summarized by the Bond Bank 
staff and a recommendation is presented to the Board of 
Directors for their approval.  The Bond Bank generally ap-
proves loans if it believes that the local government, whose 
municipal bonds the Bond Bank is purchasing, has the ability 
to repay its loan from the Bond Bank on a timely basis by the 
levy of ad valorem taxes.  Once approved for a loan by our 
Board of Directors, the local governmental unit executes a 
loan agreement with the Bond Bank accompanied by the 
opinion of the local government’s bond counsel.

OTHER BOND BANK PROGRAMS

Bond Anticipation Note (BANs)
Prior to the bond sale, municipalities can use interim 
financing from local banks in the form of a Bond Anticipa-
tion Note (BAN) to fund the project’s cash flow.  BANs are 
generally issued for periods up to one year and the Bond 
Bank can assist communities in issuing them. BANs can 
also be issued if a community needs financing for a project 
in stages, but wants to issue the permanent financing 
once.  The Bond Bank will send out a request for proposal 
to local banks in NH and arrange a sale date.  When the 
bids are received at the Bond Bank, we then work with the 
winning bidder and the community to close the loan.

Revenue Bond Programs
In addition to its municipal finance programs, the Bond 
Bank administers tax-exempt revenue bond programs for 
New Hampshire public utilities, small-scale power facilities, 
certain private schools, and educational institutions offer-
ing elementary or secondary education programs whose 
tuitions are paid by municipalities or school districts in 
which the students live.

Refundings
The Bond Bank has also played an effective role in refunding its 
debt in times of falling interest rates and returning substantial 
savings to its participants.  The Bond Bank and its financial 
advisors constantly monitor the capital markets for refunding 
opportunities.  When interest rates are low enough to achieve a 
threshold level of savings, the Bond Bank refunds its bonds and 
returns savings to its participants.  The Bond Bank has 
refinanced $1.2 Billion in bonds with over $77.7 million of the 
refinanced savings rebated back to borrowers.  

Over the years, the Bond Bank’s role in 
New Hampshire municipal finance has grown.  
The annual volume of Bond Bank loans to  
communities was $163 million in 2021.  

HISTORY OF 
FINANCING PROGRAM

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Matthew D. Boucher, Chairman
Keith Quinton, Vice Chairman
Mark Decoteau, Treasurer
William Dwyer, State Treasurer
James Gerry, Director,Ex-Officio Director
Tammy J. St. Gelais, Executive Director/  
  Secretary
Hilltop Securities Inc., Financial Advisor
Locke Lord LLP, Bond Counsel
People’s United Bank, N.A., Trustee 
Baker Newman Noyes, Financial Auditors

Since its inception, the Bond Bank 
has provided cities, towns, counties,
school districts, and other local gov-
ernmental units in New Hampshire 
with $2.585 billion in tax-exempt 
bonds.  The Bond Bank has made 
1,231 loans in its 108 bond issues 
to over 338 different governmental
units statewide, many of which have 
borrowed from the Bond Bank 
several times.

PROGRAM
DESCRIPTION

The Bond Bank, acting on behalf of 
cities, towns, counties, school districts,
and other local governmental units, 
sells its highly rated bonds, which are
insured or backed by a reserve fund. 
The Bond Bank issues its bonds to
investors and uses the bond pro-
ceeds to make loans to participating
communities.  Participants benefit
from low interest rates, the Bond 
Bank’s high investment grade ratings,
reduced issuance and post issuance 
costs, and the considerably reduced 
administrative burden of issuance.

ELIGIBILITY
All local governmental entities, including cities, towns, counties, school 
districts, fire districts, water districts, sewer districts and village districts, are 
eligible for participation.  

BENEFITS TO MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENTS
Compared to a traditional public bond sale by a local governmental unit, 
the Bond Bank’s Tax-Exempt Financing Program offers communities and 
districts several advantages, including:

• Competitive Interest Rates – Low interest rates created by the Bond Bank’s
highly rated bond issues, national bond market recognition, and ease of access.

• Credit Enhancement and Security – As of the date of this report, the Bond 
Bank is currently rated Aa2 by Moody’s Investors Service and AA+ by S&P Global.

• Reduced Time Requirements – The local government does not have to 
manage its own public sale of bonds.  Instead, the Bond Bank obtains funds 
for the community’s loan by its own issuance of bonds.

• Low Cost of Issuance – By participating in the Bond Bank program, a local
government is, in effect, pooling its borrowing with that of many other New
Hampshire local governments.  The Bond Bank includes the cost of issuance
in its bonds.  Since many costs of borrowing are fixed, this pooling spreads
fixed costs of issuance across all participating community loans, thereby 
reducing the costs paid by each individual borrower.  The only out-of-pocket 
costs the municipalities have to pay is to local bond counsel.

• Fixed Interest Rates - Bonds are issued with fixed interest rates and bor-
rowers are protected against having their interest rates increased due to a 
changing market.  If interest rates decline by a significant amount, the Bond 
Bank can refund the existing bonds and pass savings on to the borrower.

• Administrative Assistance – The Bond Bank provides assistance by explain-
ing the bond process, assists with the completion of the bond application, 
and offers communities ongoing assistance in the review of planned maturity 
schedules.  The Bond Bank is able to provide participating communities with 
detailed financing schedules showing the estimated repayment schedule 
reflecting current market interest rates and total debt service on the commu-
nity’s loans.  

• Streamlined Borrowing Process – Once the application is approved, all the 
municipality has to do is sign several loan documents prepared by their bond 
counsel and wait for the bond proceeds.  Local governments obtain their funds 
without the considerable expense or burden of arranging their own financing.  

• Disclosure Requirements – Currently, the only disclosure requirements for
communities borrowing from the Bond Bank are those contained in the Bond 
Bank’s application.  Participating communities do not have to prepare or print
their own official statements or obtain their own bond ratings or bond in-
surance.  Federal regulations require ongoing disclosure of each bond issuer. 
Because the Bond Bank is the issuer, it is the Bank’s responsibility to meet the 
annual disclosure requirements, not the municipal borrower.

T he New Hampshire Municipal Bond Bank was established by the NH State Legislature in 1977 as 
an independent unit of state government administered by a Board of Directors that includes the State 
Treasurer, municipal government, and banking community representatives that are appointed by 
the Governor.  The New Hampshire Municipal Bond Bank has a three person full-time staff led by its 
Executive Director.  The staff, along with professional consultants, provide ongoing advice, administrative 
and loan application process assistance to local governments borrowing through the Bond Bank.

Page 120 of 162



Reserve Fund
Each Bond Bank issue is supported by a reserve fund, 
which enhances the bond security by providing 
funds for payment of debt service in the event that 
any one of the participating governmental units 
defaults in its payments.

Moral Obligation to Replenish Debt Service 
Reserve Fund
Although the Bond Bank’s bonds are not guaranteed 
by the State, the law provides a procedure for the 
Bank to request an advance of State funds, at no 
interest cost.  If the amount in the reserve fund falls 
below the legally required amount, due to failure 

PROGRAM 
OVERVIEW

NHMBBNew Hampshire
Municipal Bond Bank

A  P O O L E D  M U N I C I P A L  B O N D I N G  P R O G R A M

CONTACT
The Bond Bank staff is always willing to meet with 
community officials or committees, either at our  
office in Concord or at any location convenient to 
the community for day or evening meetings. 
To schedule a meeting, details on our schedule,  
current interest rates, or for any additional  
information, please contact the Bond Bank.

New Hampshire Municipal Bond Bank
25 Triangle Park Drive

Concord, New Hampshire 03301
Tel: 603-271-2595 or

800-393-6422 (toll-free in NH)
Fax: 603-271-3937

E-Mail: info@nhmbb.com
Web Site: www.nhmbb.org

of payments by participating governmental units, 
the Bond Bank’s Chairman will submit a request to 
the State for the amount required to replenish the 
reserve fund.  The State legislature will consider the 
request, but is not bound or obligated to appropri-
ate the amount requested by the Bond Bank.

Prepayments
It is not economical for a municipality to repay a 
bond early because bonds are issued on a pooled 
basis.  It is very expensive to separate a municipality 
from the pool.  The NHMBB is constantly monitoring 
the pool for refunding opportunities in which the 
savings are returned to the community.

TAX-EXEMPT FINANCING PROGRAM

The mission of the New Hampshire  
Municipal Bond Bank is to provide 
professional services to assist qualified 
New Hampshire entities in obtaining 
financing for eligible purposes.

To meet its mission, the New Hampshire 
Municipal Bond Bank is committed to:

• Financial stability
• Strong client relations
• Obtaining the lowest possible  

borrowing rates
• An efficient application process
• Maintaining strong credit ratings 

and financial market access
• A well-trained team of professional 

staff & consultants
• Supporting best possible public  

finance practices
• Meeting the requirements of all 

applicable state and federal laws, 
particularly RSA:35-A

“The Town of Durham has been working with the NH Municipal 
Bond Bank for over ten years. After many years of bonding with 
a private financial institution we decided to try the NHMBB. I 
can’t begin to express how pleased I am that we did. It’s always 
a great experience and has taken the stress of dealing with the 
rating agencies, banks and financial advisors off my shoulders. 
Everyone is so accommodating and knowledgeable and the 
process from start to finish runs smoothly.  I would highly 
recommend to anyone who needs to borrow funds to contact 
the NHMBB. You’ll be happy you did. 

- Gail Jablonski, Business Manager
Town of Durham

“The New Hampshire Municipal Bond Bank 
has proven itself to be a worthy partner in 
helping the City of Lebanon with borrowing 
funds.  The NHMBB’s considerable expertise 
and professionalism have greatly facilitated 
the borrowing process, thus enabling the 
City to better serve the citizens of Lebanon.” 

- Vicki Lee, Deputy Finance Director, 
City of Lebanon

" The New Hampshire Municipal Bond Bank has been an excellent partner for both the Bow and Dunbarton 
SchoolDistricts.  NHMBB has created documents that are important in the planning stages of large scale projects, 

giving our school boards and administration tools that assist in the passage of long term borrowing. The application 
process is straightforward and several parts of the application are filled out by NHMBB for us!  Bond proceeds are 

deposited on time which makes cash flow on our projects less of a worry. We will utilize the Bond Bank for our long 
term borrowing needs in the future"

- Duane Ford, Business Administrator, SAU 67 

Page 121 of 162



MAY 

S M T W T F S 

28 
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 

JUNE 

1   2 

29 30 31 

4 
5 6  7    8    9 10 11 

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 
19 20 21 22 23 24 25 
26 28 

  3 

JULY 
30 

1 
2 3 4 5 6   7     8 

9 10 11 12 13 14 15 
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 
23 24 25 26 27 

APRIL

29 31 

1 4 3 2 5  6
 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 
14 15 16 17 18 19 20 
21 22 23 24 

30  28 
   27    25     26 

*Red Indicates Holidays

July 2024
Sale Schedule 

Friday, April 26th 

Tuesday May 21st 

Friday, May 3rd 

Friday, May 3rd 

Friday, May 10th 

Tuesday, May 21st 

Friday, May 24th 

Friday, May 24th 

June 10 – 14th 

Friday, June 14th

Monday,  June 17th 

All Applications Due 

Notify Bond Counsels of Identity of Governmental 
Units and Amount and Purposes of Municipal Bonds 

Notify State Treasurer if Interested in State of NH Bond 
for Reserve Fund 

All Legal Information from Participants Due to Their 
Bond Counsel  

Bond Bank Board Reviews Applications and Mails Loan 
Agreements to Bond Counsels 

Determine Maximum Loan Rates 

Bond Counsels Mail Loan Agreements to     
Governmental Units and Clear Debt Schedules with 
the Bond Bank 

Bond Counsels Send Preliminary Opinions to Ratings 
Agencies and the Bond Bank 

Calls with Ratings Agencies 

Deadline for Meeting of the Participants Governing 
Board for the Certificate of Vote  

Loan Agreements Returned to Bond Bank 

  Preliminary Official Statements Mailed 

Sale 

Bond Counsels Mail Bonds to Governmental Units 

Participants Return Bonds to Bond Counsel Bond 

Counsels Mail Bonds to Locke Lord, LLC 

Pre-Closing and Closing – Bond Proceeds Wired to 
Participants on August 7, 2024 

Date of NHMBB Bonds and Interest Start Date

First Interest Payment 

First Principal and Interest Payment 

Wednesday, June 26th 

Wednesday, July 10th 

Friday, July 12th 

Tuesday, July  23rd 

Friday, July 26th 

August 6-7th 

Wednesday, August 7th 

February 15, 2025  

August 15, 2025

29

27 

S S M T W T F S S 

S M T W T F S S S M T W T F S S 

S M T W T F S S S M T W T F S S 

S M T W T F S S S M T W T F S S 

28 

AUGUST
S M T W T F S 

30 31 

1 2 3 

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

11  12 13 14 15 16 17 

18 19 20 21 22 23 24 

25  26 27 28 29 

30 29 

Page 122 of 162



Town of Amherst

$2,390,811,306  

03/12/24    
 

08/11/24  

02/15/25

3.50% Our 20 year interest rate in our January 2024 bond sale was 3.40%.
3.50% is an estimate and subject to change. 

------------ -------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ------------- ------------------------- -- ------------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------------
Debt Period Principal Total Fiscal Year Assessed FY-Est. Tax
Year Ending Outstanding Principal Rate Interest Payment Total Payment Valuation Rate Inc.

------------ -------------- --------------------------- --------------------------- ------------- ----------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------------

2/15/2025 50,000.00$            50,000.00$             50,000.00$             2,390,811,306$   0.02$               
1 8/15/2025 2,000,000.00$        100,000.00$           3.50% 35,000.00             135,000.00             

2/15/2026 33,250.00             33,250.00               168,250.00             2,390,811,306     0.07$               
2 8/15/2026 1,900,000.00          100,000.00             3.50% 33,250.00             133,250.00             

2/15/2027 31,500.00             31,500.00               164,750.00             2,390,811,306     0.07$               
3 8/15/2027 1,800,000.00          100,000.00             3.50% 31,500.00             131,500.00             

2/15/2028 29,750.00             29,750.00               161,250.00             2,390,811,306     0.07$               
4 8/15/2028 1,700,000.00          100,000.00             3.50% 29,750.00             129,750.00             

2/15/2029 28,000.00             28,000.00               157,750.00             2,390,811,306     0.07$               
5 8/15/2029 1,600,000.00          100,000.00             3.50% 28,000.00             128,000.00             

2/15/2030 26,250.00             26,250.00               154,250.00             2,390,811,306     0.06$               
6 8/15/2030 1,500,000.00          100,000.00             3.50% 26,250.00             126,250.00             

2/15/2031 24,500.00             24,500.00               150,750.00             2,390,811,306     0.06$               
7 8/15/2031 1,400,000.00          100,000.00             3.50% 24,500.00             124,500.00             

2/15/2032 22,750.00             22,750.00               147,250.00             2,390,811,306     0.06$               
8 8/15/2032 1,300,000.00          100,000.00             3.50% 22,750.00             122,750.00             

2/15/2033 21,000.00             21,000.00               143,750.00             2,390,811,306     0.06$               
9 8/15/2033 1,200,000.00          100,000.00             3.50% 21,000.00             121,000.00             

2/15/2034 19,250.00             19,250.00               140,250.00             2,390,811,306     0.06$               
10 8/15/2034 1,100,000.00          100,000.00             3.50% 19,250.00             119,250.00             

2/15/2035 17,500.00             17,500.00               136,750.00             2,390,811,306     0.06$               
11 8/15/2035 1,000,000.00          100,000.00             3.50% 17,500.00             117,500.00             

2/15/2036 15,750.00             15,750.00               133,250.00             2,390,811,306     0.06$               
12 8/15/2036 900,000.00             100,000.00             3.50% 15,750.00             115,750.00             

2/15/2037 14,000.00             14,000.00               129,750.00             2,390,811,306     0.05$               
13 8/15/2037 800,000.00             100,000.00             3.50% 14,000.00             114,000.00             

2/15/2038 12,250.00             12,250.00               126,250.00             2,390,811,306     0.05$               
14 8/15/2038 700,000.00             100,000.00             3.50% 12,250.00             112,250.00             

2/15/2039 10,500.00             10,500.00               122,750.00             2,390,811,306     0.05$               
15 8/15/2039 600,000.00             100,000.00             3.50% 10,500.00             110,500.00             

2/15/2040 8,750.00               8,750.00                 119,250.00             2,390,811,306     0.05$               
16 8/15/2040 500,000.00             100,000.00             3.50% 8,750.00               108,750.00             

2/15/2041 7,000.00               7,000.00                 115,750.00             2,390,811,306     0.05$               
17 8/15/2041 400,000.00             100,000.00             3.50% 7,000.00               107,000.00             

2/15/2042 5,250.00               5,250.00                 112,250.00             2,390,811,306     0.05$               
18 8/15/2042 300,000.00             100,000.00             3.50% 5,250.00               105,250.00             

2/15/2043 3,500.00               3,500.00                 108,750.00             2,390,811,306     0.05$               
19 8/15/2043 200,000.00             100,000.00             3.50% 3,500.00               103,500.00             

2/15/2044 1,750.00               1,750.00                 105,250.00             2,390,811,306     0.04$               
20 8/15/2044 100,000.00             100,000.00             3.50% 1,750.00               101,750.00             101,750.00             

=============  ============= ============= =============

TOTALS 2,000,000.00$        750,000.00$         2,750,000.00$        2,750,000.00$        

Please show all warrant articles related to this project to bond counsel prior to submitting them to DRA. If you need a list of approved bond counsel, please let us 
know and we will provide one.  

Net Interest Costs:

First Interest Payment:

2023 Assessed Valuation:

Date Prepared:

Interest Start Date:

July 2024 Bond Sale

20 Year Estimated Schedule - Level Principal

Page 123 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Employer Election to Participate in 
the NH Retirement System 

Department: Finance Department 

Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact: Debbie Bender  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
As our budget has passed, I contacted NHRS about next steps to include employees in 
the NH Retirement System Plan. In order to do this, the Board will have to vote. If 
approved, the Chairperson will sign the Employer Election to Participate form. Once this 
is accepted by the NHRS Board of Directors, we will be able to complete the process of 
adding NHRS as a benefit for our employees.  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
Already estimated and included in the FY25 Operating Budget of the Town. 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
I recommend that we move forward with allowing employees to participate in NHRS. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move that we vote to approve the Employer Election to participate in the NH 
Retirement System Plan and further to allow Chairman _________ to sign on behalf of 
the Board. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Amherst Draft - election-to-participate-in-the-nhrs-plan 
 

Page 124 of 162



  
 
 

EMPLOYER ELECTION TO PARTICIPATE 
IN THE NEW HAMPSHIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM PLAN 

 

ORGANIZATION OF:  

At a meeting of the                                                                                        of the town of                                             in the county of 
                                                                (Governing Board)                                                                          (Town)                                                                    

                                                 and the State of New Hampshire, legally called on the                     day of                         20          , the  
                          (County)                                                                                                                                                                  (Day)                                    (Month)                     (YY) 

following resolution was offered by                                                                                                                                   : 
                                                                                                                                                                  (Name and Title) 

Be it Resolved: That the                                                                                        will elect to approve the inclusion of its officers and 
                                                                          (Organization) 

employees in the New Hampshire Retirement System of the State of New Hampshire, as provided for by RSA 100-A (supp), for the 

 

employees of the                                                                                        to be effective                                             . 
                                                               (Organization)                                                                                                                (Date) 

The above resolution was adopted as appears by the following vote:  Yeas:                  Nays:                 .  

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT  

State of New Hampshire, County of:                                                                                                                                                 . 

I                                                                                                          of the                                                                                        . 
                                            (Name and Title)                                                                                                                               (Organization) 

do hereby certify that I have compared the foregoing with the original resolution adopted by the                                                         .   
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         (Organization)        

at a meeting held on the                    day of                         20           on file in this office, and that the same is a true copy thereof and 
                                              (Day)                                   (Month)                    (YY) 

the whole of said original.   

I further certify that the full board consists of                         duly elected members and that, as above stated,                         of said 
                                                                               (Number)                                                                                                                                 (Number) 

duly elected members voted yes to the above resolution. 

In Witness Whereof, I have hereunto set my hand of the                                                                                         on this                    . 
                                                                                                                              (Organization)                                                                             (Day) 

day of                          20          . 
                          (Month)                     (YY) 

Officer Signature: Title: 

 
The New Hampshire Retirement System (NHRS) is governed by New Hampshire RSA 100-A, rules, regulations, and Federal laws including the Internal Revenue Code.  NHRS also 
implements policies adopted by the Board of Trustees.  These laws, rules, regulations, and policies are subject to change.  Even though the goal of NHRS is to provide information that is 
current, correct, and complete, NHRS does not make any representation or warranty as to the current applicability, accuracy, or completeness of any information provided.  The information 
herein is intended to provide general information only, and should not be construed as a legal opinion or as legal advice.  Members are encouraged to address specific questions, regarding 
NHRS, with an NHRS representative.  In the event of any conflict between the information herein and the laws, rules, and regulations which govern NHRS, the laws, rules, and regulations 
shall prevail.   

Form Emp Elect   
Revised 4/2017 

New Hampshire Retirement System 
54 Regional Drive, Concord, NH 03301 

Phone:  (603) 410-3500 - Fax: (603) 410-3501 
Website: www.nhrs.org - Email: info@nhrs.org 

 

Page 125 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: FY25 Seasonal Wage Scale - 
Effective 4-7-24 

Department: Finance Department 

Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact: Debbie Bender  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
In the past the Board has approved the Seasonal Wage Scale to be effective in early 
April, so that seasonal hires didn't have to start at one rate and then change to another 
on July 1st. We are asking that you approve the FY25 Seasonal Wage Scale to be 
effective on 4/7/24. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move that we approve the FY25 Seasonal Wage Scale with a 3.5% COLA, to be 
effective as of April 7, 2024. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. FY25 Seasonal Wage Schedule 
 

Page 126 of 162



FY25 Seasonal Wage Schedule - Recreation & DPW - Effective 4/7/2024 COLA 3.50%

Grade Position Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Step 7

S01 Gate Guard, Concession, Camp Counselor $ 12.67 $ 13.05 $ 13.44 $ 13.84 $ 14.26 $ 14.68 $ 15.13

S02 Camp Counselor w/ college field of study $ 13.82 $ 14.23 $ 14.66 $ 15.09 $ 15.56 $ 16.02 $ 16.50

S03 Open $ 14.97 $ 15.43 $ 15.88 $ 16.37 $ 16.86 $ 17.35 $ 17.87

S04 Lifeguard $ 15.55 $ 16.02 $ 16.49 $ 16.99 $ 17.50 $ 18.03 $ 18.56

S05 Lifeguard/WSI,  Head Gate Guard, Intern $ 16.12 $ 16.61 $ 17.10 $ 17.62 $ 18.15 $ 18.69 $ 19.26

S06 Swim Team Coach $ 16.70 $ 17.21 $ 17.72 $ 18.24 $ 18.79 $ 19.36 $ 19.93

S07 Head Lifeguard, PT Field Maint./Outdoor Leader $ 17.33 $ 17.85 $ 18.39 $ 18.95 $ 19.51 $ 20.10 $ 20.70

S08 Open $ 17.85 $ 18.39 $ 18.94 $ 19.51 $ 20.10 $ 20.70 $ 21.32

S09 Open $ 18.43 $ 18.98 $ 19.55 $ 20.13 $ 20.74 $ 21.36 $ 21.99

S10 Open $ 19.00 $ 19.58 $ 20.16 $ 20.76 $ 21.38 $ 22.04 $ 22.69

S11 PMEC Instructor, BL Beach Assist Coord., DPW Seasonal Labor $ 19.58 $ 20.17 $ 20.78 $ 21.40 $ 22.04 $ 22.70 $ 23.38

S12 Open $ 20.73 $ 21.35 $ 21.99 $ 22.66 $ 23.33 $ 24.03 $ 24.75

S13 Baboosic Lake Beach Cordinator $ 21.88 $ 22.54 $ 23.22 $ 23.91 $ 24.63 $ 25.37 $ 26.14

S14 DPW Plow Driver $ 23.03 $ 23.72 $ 24.44 $ 25.16 $ 25.93 $ 26.71 $ 27.51

Page 127 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Use of Town Common, Memorial 
Day Parade: Friday, May 24, 2024 

Department: Administration 

Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to approve the use of the Town Common for the purpose of the Annual 
Memorial Day Parade on Friday May 24, 2024 from 5-7pm, as well as road closures as 
approved by the Director of Public Works, the Fire Chief and the Police Chief. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Use of Town Common Request- Memorial Day Parade May 24, 2024 - signed 
 

Page 128 of 162



Matthew Conley 29/2/2024

Anthony Ciampoli 03-05-24

Eric Slosek 03-05-24

Page 129 of 162



Signature:

Email:

Signature:

Email:

Signature:

Email:
Matthew Conley (Feb 29, 2024 14:30 EST)

Matthew Conley
mconley@amherstnh.gov

Anthony E. Ciampoli (Mar 5, 2024 12:08 EST)
Anthony E. Ciampoli

aciampoli@amherstnh.gov eslosek@amherstnh.gov

Page 130 of 162



Use of Town Common Request- Memorial Day
Parade May 24, 2024
Final Audit Report 2024-03-05

Created: 2024-02-29

By: Jennifer Stover (jstover@amherstnh.gov)

Status: Signed

Transaction ID: CBJCHBCAABAAFhFyEFzLMdCdb-b0WBw12oAYoZh0aRto

"Use of Town Common Request- Memorial Day Parade May 24,
 2024" History

Document created by Jennifer Stover (jstover@amherstnh.gov)
2024-02-29 - 5:24:59 PM GMT

Document emailed to aciampoli@amherstnh.gov for signature
2024-02-29 - 5:25:03 PM GMT

Document emailed to Eric Slosek (eslosek@amherstnh.gov) for signature
2024-02-29 - 5:25:03 PM GMT

Document emailed to Matthew Conley (mconley@amherstnh.gov) for signature
2024-02-29 - 5:25:03 PM GMT

Email viewed by Eric Slosek (eslosek@amherstnh.gov)
2024-02-29 - 5:35:14 PM GMT

Email viewed by Matthew Conley (mconley@amherstnh.gov)
2024-02-29 - 7:29:33 PM GMT

Document e-signed by Matthew Conley (mconley@amherstnh.gov)
Signature Date: 2024-02-29 - 7:30:48 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Email viewed by aciampoli@amherstnh.gov
2024-03-05 - 5:07:10 PM GMT

Signer aciampoli@amherstnh.gov entered name at signing as Anthony E. Ciampoli
2024-03-05 - 5:08:11 PM GMT

Document e-signed by Anthony E. Ciampoli (aciampoli@amherstnh.gov)
Signature Date: 2024-03-05 - 5:08:13 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Page 131 of 162



Document e-signed by Eric Slosek (eslosek@amherstnh.gov)
Signature Date: 2024-03-05 - 5:15:13 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Agreement completed.
2024-03-05 - 5:15:13 PM GMT

Page 132 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Use of Town Common, Fourth of July 
Celebration 

Department: Administration 

Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I approve the request of  the Fourth of July Committee for the use of the Town Common 
on July 4th, 2024 from 7am - 12:30 pm  for the celebration of Independence Day, along 
with the specified road closures as approved by the Director of Public Works, the Fire 
Chief and the Police Chief. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Town Common Use Reqeust Fourth of July Committee - signed 
 

Page 133 of 162



Anthony Ciampoli 2-26-24

Matthew Conley 2-26-2024

Eric Slosek 2-26-24

Page 134 of 162



Signature:

Email:

Signature:

Email:

Signature:

Email:
Anthony E. Ciampoli (Feb 26, 2024 10:08 EST)

Anthony E. Ciampoli
aciampoli@amherstnh.gov

Matthew Conley (Feb 26, 2024 10:18 EST)
Matthew Conley

mconley@amherstnh.goveslosek@amherstnh.gov

Page 135 of 162



Town Common Use Reqeust, Fourth of July
Committee
Final Audit Report 2024-02-26

Created: 2024-02-26

By: Jennifer Stover (jstover@amherstnh.gov)

Status: Signed

Transaction ID: CBJCHBCAABAARAAXw2EwN3XhFHnP4pAHtckg_n66uGIo

"Town Common Use Reqeust, Fourth of July Committee" History
Document created by Jennifer Stover (jstover@amherstnh.gov)
2024-02-26 - 2:32:32 PM GMT

Document emailed to Eric Slosek (eslosek@amherstnh.gov) for signature
2024-02-26 - 2:32:36 PM GMT

Document emailed to Matthew Conley (mconley@amherstnh.gov) for signature
2024-02-26 - 2:32:36 PM GMT

Document emailed to aciampoli@amherstnh.gov for signature
2024-02-26 - 2:32:36 PM GMT

Email viewed by aciampoli@amherstnh.gov
2024-02-26 - 3:07:55 PM GMT

Signer aciampoli@amherstnh.gov entered name at signing as Anthony E. Ciampoli
2024-02-26 - 3:08:44 PM GMT

Document e-signed by Anthony E. Ciampoli (aciampoli@amherstnh.gov)
Signature Date: 2024-02-26 - 3:08:46 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Email viewed by Matthew Conley (mconley@amherstnh.gov)
2024-02-26 - 3:17:44 PM GMT

Document e-signed by Matthew Conley (mconley@amherstnh.gov)
Signature Date: 2024-02-26 - 3:18:49 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Email viewed by Eric Slosek (eslosek@amherstnh.gov)
2024-02-26 - 4:35:42 PM GMT

Page 136 of 162



Document e-signed by Eric Slosek (eslosek@amherstnh.gov)
Signature Date: 2024-02-26 - 4:36:43 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Agreement completed.
2024-02-26 - 4:36:43 PM GMT

Page 137 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Atlas Fireworks Permit for 
Wholesale/Retail Sale of Permissible 
Fireworks 

Department: Administration 

Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
This permit is in process. Inspections have been scheduled for Friday March 15th. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Atlas Fireworks Permit 
 

Page 138 of 162



Page 139 of 162



Page 140 of 162



Page 141 of 162



Page 142 of 162



Page 143 of 162



Page 144 of 162



Page 145 of 162



Page 146 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: 2023 Elderly Tax Deferrals Department: Tax Collector 
Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact: Gail Stout  
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The 2023 Elderly Tax Deferral applications are included for the Board's approval and 
signature.  The applications are complete, and it is reccommended they be approved. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
To approve and sign. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to approve and sign the 2023 Elderly Tax Deferral applications for Map 005 Lot 
114-000 and Map 002 Lot 166-013.  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Deferrals 2023 BOS Confidential March 18 2024 
 

Page 147 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: Assessing Department: Assessing 
Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
 
Abatement 
Item A. The reason for the abatement is the owner suggests this building's lot is un-
buildable due to wetlands.  There has been no determination by the town or NH 
Department of Environmental Services that this property is un-buildable to my 
knowledge. However, it is reasonable to presume this property will be limited to what is 
built on it and the cost of development relatively high and difficult to develop. 
 
Suggested Motion: the assessor recommends granting the abatement due to the 
small building envelope and adverse development conditions. Therefore, I recommend 
granting an abatement for this property in the amount of $753.00, revising the assessed 
value from $68,800 to $34,400 for Map 021, Lot 018-039. 
 
Item A-1. The reason for the abatement is the current owner purchased this property 
on November 8, 2023, for 125,000.  They suggest the assessment should be more 
indicative of the purchase price. The building is uninhabitable. The land value 
assessment is consistent with others in the area and the foundation seems to be 
adequate to be re-used if the building is razed. 
 
Suggested Motion: The assessor recommends granting the abatement due to the 
condition of the building. Therefore, I recommend granting an abatement in the amount 
of $2,116.00 for this property, revising the assessed value to $178,500 to reflect the 
physical condition of the building on Map 024, Lot 040-000. 
 
Item A-2. The attached abatement is to correct a data entry error. The Veteran Tax 
Credit was approved in 2022 for the 2023 tax year but was never placed on the 

Page 148 of 162



property for tax purposes. 
  
Suggested Motion: This abatement is to correct the error and apply the $500 Veteran 
credit to the property. Therefore, I move to approve an abatement for Tax Year 2023 for 
Map 002, Lot 163-032 in the amount of $500.00 plus any applicable interest/fees. 
 
Item A-3. The reason for the abatement is these properties had been granted property 
tax exemption under the provisions of RSA 72:23, IV.  However, they were denied the 
exemption on these units because they are merely vacant development sites.  They 
suggest they use the space for outdoor learning and activities.  It was my opinion in 
2023 that because these are separate development units and not part of the functioning 
school property but merely owned by the school, they are not exempt under the statute. 
 
The law does allow for athletic fields.  The properties are identified as map and lots 
002-024-016,  
002-024-017, 002-024-018, and 002-024-19 could arguably be considered athletic 
fields.  These properties are not large enough to have a full-scale athletic game as we 
typically expect.  There is merely 1 small, netted goal (about the size of a lacrosse goal, 
two picnic tables & a basketball hoop on the edge of the parking lot.  The Board may 
have grounds to abate the assessment of these lots for this reason. 
 
Suggested Motion, The assessor recommends granting the abatement for map and 
lots 002-024-016, 002-024-017, 002-024-018, and 002-024-019, since it is being used 
for athletic fields to a minimal degree. The assessment value change of these lots 
would go from $12,000 to $0, being exempt.  Therefore, I move to grant the abatement 
in the amount of $1,052.00 as recommended by the assessor. 
 
Item A-4. The reason for the abatement is these properties have been granted property 
tax exemption under the provisions of RSA 72:23, IV.  However, in my opinion these 
properties do not qualify for the exemption because these units are merely vacant 
development sites.  They suggest they use the space for outdoor learning and 
activities.  It was my opinion in 2023 that because these are separate development 
units and not part of the functioning school property but merely owned by the school, 
they are not exempt under the statute. 
 
The properties identified as map 002, lots 024-005, and 002-024-006 do not appear to 
be used or improved in any significant way to be part of the school.  Currently, there is 
a Meridian Survey van and two picnic tables on the property collectively.  The 
assessor’s opinion and recommendation are to deny the abatement.  
 
Suggested motion, the assessor recommends denying the abatement for map 002, lot 
024-005 and 002-024-006 since it is not being used or necessary for the operation of 
the school.  Therefore, I move to accept the assessor’s recommendation to deny the 
abatement for these properties. 
 
Solar Exemption 

Page 149 of 162



Item B. Attached is a Solar Exemption Application provided and the applicant qualifies 
for the Tax Credit under RSA 72:62 for the 2024 tax year.  
 
Suggested Motion: 
The Assessor has reviewed the application for the Solar Exemption under RSA 72:62 
and recommends approval. Therefore, I move to approve the Solar Exemption in the 
amount of $17,500 for map 008, lot 084-001 commencing in tax year 2024. 
 
Item B-1. Attached is a Solar Exemption Application provided and the applicant 
qualifies for the Tax Credit under RSA 72:62 for the 2024 tax year.  
 
Suggested Motion: 
The Assessor has reviewed the application for the Solar Exemption under RSA 72:62 
and recommends approval. Therefore, I move to approve the Solar Exemption in the 
amount of $17,500 for map 010, lot 005-028 commencing in tax year 2024. 
 
Item B-2. The attached application has been reviewed by our Assessor and the 
applicant qualifies for the Solar Tax Exemption under RSA 72:62 for the 2024 tax year.  
 
Suggested Motion: 
The attached application has been reviewed by our Assessor and our Assessor 
recommends approval. Therefore, I move to approve the Solar Tax Exemption in the 
amount of $17,500 for Map 003, Lot 022-000 commencing in Tax Year 2024 
 
Elderly Exemption 
Item C. The applicant has applied for an Elderly Exemption under RSA 72:39-a, which 
meets the income and asset limits and qualifies for the exemption.  
 
Suggested Motion:  The Assessor has reviewed the application for an Elderly 
Exemption under RSA 72:39-a and recommends approval.  Therefore, I move to 
approve the Elderly Exemption for Map 002, Lot 166-013 commencing in Tax Year 
2024. 
 
Item C-1. The applicant has applied for an Elderly Exemption under RSA 72:39-a, 
which meets the income and asset limits and qualifies for the exemption.  
 
Suggested Motion: The Assessor has reviewed the application for an Elderly 
Exemption under RSA 72:39-a and recommends approval.  Therefore, I move to 
approve the Elderly Exemption for Map 018, Lot 005-000 commencing in Tax Year 
2024. 
 
Veteran Tax Credit 
Item D. The attached Veteran Tax Credit Application provided has been reviewed and 
the applicant qualifies for the Tax Credit under RSA 72:28 for the 2024 tax year.  
 
Suggested Motion: 

Page 150 of 162



The attached application has been reviewed by the Assessor and our Assessor 
recommends granting this credit. Therefore, I move to approve the Veteran Tax Credit 
for Map 008, Lot 089-003 commencing in Tax Year 2024. 
 
Item D-1. The attached Veteran Tax Credit Application has been reviewed and the 
applicant qualifies for the Tax Credit under RSA 72:28 for the 2024 tax year.  
 
Suggested Motion: 
The attached application has been reviewed by our Assessor and our Assessor 
recommends granting this credit. Therefore, I move to approve the Veteran Tax Credit 
for Map 017 Lot 049-000 commencing in Tax Year 2024. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Item A Confidential 
2. Item A-1 Confidential 
3. Item A-2 Confidential 
4. Item A-3 Confidential 
5. Item A-4 Confidential 
6. Item B Confidential 
7. Item B-1 Confidential 

Page 151 of 162



8. Item B-2 Confidential 
9. Item C Confidential 
10. Item C-1 Confidential 
11. Item D Confidential 
12. Item D-1 Confidential 
 

Page 152 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

 
Title: AP, Payroll and Minutes Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: March 18, 2024 Staff Contact:   
  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
  
   Payroll 
       PR1~ I move to approve one (1) Payroll Manifest in the amount of $260,182.91 
dated February 22, 2024, subject to review and audit.  
 
       PR2~ I move to approve one (1) Payroll Manifest in the amount of $260,997.42 
dated March 7, 2024, subject to review and audit.  
 
       PR3~ I move to approve one (1) Payroll Manifest in the amount of $1,430.80 dated 
March 8, 2024, subject to review and audit.  
   
   Accounts Payable 
   
    AP1 ~ I move to approve one (1) Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$42,997.14 dated February 16, 2024, subject to review and audit. (NH DMV) 
   
    AP2 ~ I move to approve one (1) Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$464,820.87 dated February 29, 2024, subject to review and audit. (Vendors)  
 
   AP3 ~ I move to approve one (1) Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$3,149,219.00 dated March 1, 2024, subject to review and audit. (Schools) 
 
   AP4 ~ I move to approve one (1) Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$320,807.02 dated March 6, 2024, subject to review and audit. (Vendors)  
 
   AP5 ~ I move to approve one (1) Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 

Page 153 of 162



$28,629.86 dated March 1, 2024, subject to review and audit. (NH DMV) 
 
   AP6 ~ I move to approve one (1) Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$367,193.01 dated March 11, 2024, subject to review and audit. (Vendors)  
  
   
    Minutes 
     ~ I move to approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of February 26, 2024.  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 2024.02.26 BOS_DRAFT - WRS Tracked Changes 
 

Page 154 of 162



Town of Amherst, NH
BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES

Barbara Landry Meeting Room
2 Main Street

Monday, February 26, 2024, 6:30PM

1 Attendees: Chairman Peter Lyon, Selectman Bill Stoughton, Selectman John D’Angelo, 
2 Selectman Danielle Pray, and Selectman Tom Grella 
3
4 1. Call to Order
5 Chairman Peter Lyon called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 
6
7 2. Pledge of Allegiance – led by DPW Director Eric Slosek.
8
9 3. Public Hearing- Pursuant to NH RSA 31:95-b, III. (a) For unanticipated moneys 

10 in the amount of $10,000 or more
11
12 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to enter 
13 into a Public Hearing.
14 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
15
16 Chairman Lyon reviewed the first two proposed donations. 
17
18 Nic Strong explained that the third item is a grant awarded to the Town for $30,000 with no 
19 Town match for a guidance document to manage growth in terms of water availability, 
20 groundwater protection of stormwater management, and mitigation for climate change 
21 impacts using existing data sources. The management plan will describe current water 
22 resources and identify how to be resilient and document future potential planning action 
23 items. Deliverables will include draft ordinances such as, eventually, a groundwater resources 
24 management ordinance.
25
26 There was no public comment at this time.
27
28 A MOTION was made by Selectman Pray and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to close 
29 the Public Hearing.
30 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
31
32 3.1. Bean Foundation Donation of $20,000 to the Bicycle Pedestrian Committee
33
34 Selectman Stoughton asked if this donation is for the same section of the Rail Trail project 
35 that is going before the voters this year at Town Meeting. Chairman Lyon stated that this is 
36 for section 02 and possibly section 03, south of the item being voted on at Town Meeting. He 
37 explained that, if the voters do not agree to the Town Meeting item, the Board must then 

Page 155 of 162



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.02.26

PAGE 2 OF 8

38 decide what it wants to do. If the Board does not want to pursue the project, it would need to 
39 contact the Bean Foundation regarding this donation. 
40
41 A MOTION was made by Selectman Pray and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to accept 
42 the donation of $20,000 for the Rail / Trail project; given to the Town by the Norwin S. & 
43 Elizabeth N. Bean Foundation.
44 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
45
46 3.2. Donation of $10,000 to the Conservation Commission
47
48 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 
49 accept the donation of $10,000 to the Amherst Conservation Commission; given generously to 
50 the Town by Candice Rapf.
51 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
52
53 3.3. DES Award of $30,000 for Local Source Water Protection Program Grant: 
54 SWP-375
55
56 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to enter 
57 into and approve a grant agreement with NH DES in the amount of $30,000 for a 2024 Local 
58 Source Water Protection Program Grant to the Town of Amherst, and to authorize Town 
59 Administrator Dr. Dean Shankle Jr. to sign paperwork associated with such grant on behalf 
60 of the Town.
61 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
62
63 4. Citizens Forum
64 None at this time.
65
66 5. Scheduled Appointments
67 None at this time.
68
69 6. Administration 
70 6.1. Administrative Updates
71
72 Town Administrator Shankle explained that the Town has received requests from NH 
73 Department of Justice to participate with the State in the opioid settlements. The Town has 
74 carried out this process previously. The settlements bring approximately $100M into NH to 
75 help fight the opioid crisis.
76
77 A MOTION was made by Selectman Pray and SECONDED by Selectman Stoughton to agree 
78 to participate in the State’s opioid settlement with CVS, Walgreens/Walmart, Allergan, and 
79 Teva, and authorize the Town Administrator to execute the election and release forms on 
80 behalf of the Amherst Board of Selectmen.
81 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
82
83 Town Administrator Shankle stated that the quarterly Comcast franchise fees were received in 
84 the amount of $48,005.81. 

Page 156 of 162



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.02.26

PAGE 3 OF 8

85
86 Town Administrator Shankle stated that he spoke with the Town Attorney regarding options 
87 for charging the German Christmas Market for Town services rendered. The Town Attorney 
88 stated that he does not believe there is a viable basis to charge these costs. He recommended 
89 revising the policy and application documents in order to potentially charge fees in the future.
90
91 The Board agreed to write a letter requesting the German Christmas Market contribute to 
92 these fees, if possible.
93
94 A MOTION was made by Selectman Grella and SECONDED by Chairman Lyon to untable 
95 and withdraw the original motion to send an invoice to the German Market for services 
96 supplied by the Amherst Department of Public Works for $3,007; and the Amherst Fire 
97 Rescue for $2,080, during the December 9, 2023, weekend.
98
99 A MOTION was made by Selectman Grella and SECONDED by Selectman Stoughton to send 

100 a request to the German Christmas Market to pay these two expenses, if possible, as a 
101 donation.
102 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
103
104 The Board reviewed its Action Items at this time.
105
106 DPW Director Slosek addressed the Board regarding a proposed Clean Water State Revolving 
107 Fund (CWSRF) loan. The Department intends to use this funding to create a Lake Phosphorus 
108 Control Plan for Baboosic Lake. As long as the process is followed, the loan will be available 
109 for 100% forgiveness through the State, for a total of $100,000.
110
111 The Board agreed that DPW Director Slosek should move forward with this item.
112
113 There was discussion regarding PFAS activities in Town. Selectman Stoughton expressed 
114 concern regarding the costs for this project and the potential need to use ARPA funds on a 
115 strict timetable. There was agreement that additional information is needed from the State.
116
117 6.2. Town Treasurer Job Posting
118
119 It was noted that this job posting is listed on the Town website and the NH Municipal 
120 Association job site.
121
122 6.3. Microtime Contract Renewal
123
124 Jennifer Stover, Executive Assistant, explained that the contract includes a monthly fee 
125 increase, due to a cost-of-living adjustment, to approximately $10,000/month. There are 
126 options for a one-year, or two-year contract, or a three-year contract at the same annual rate as 
127 the two-year price. Microtime has agreed to quarterly pulse checks to determine any needs.
128
129 Town Administrator Shankle suggested the Board approve the two-year contract. 
130

Page 157 of 162



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.02.26

PAGE 4 OF 8

131 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 
132 authorize the Town Administrator to enter into a two-year contract with Microtime for 
133 managed information technology services at a monthly rate of $9,888.50.
134 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
135
136 7.   Staff Reports 
137 71. APD Full-Time Hire - Anthony Culotta
138 Police Chief Ciampoli stated that Anthony Culotta has recently completed a comprehensive 
139 background investigation after receiving a conditional offer of employment for a full-time 
140 police officer. Mr. Culotta is currently in the process of having his law enforcement 
141 certification transferred to the State of NH which is anticipated to occur on February 27th. Mr. 
142 Culotta brings a wealth of experience, and the Department looks forward to him starting his 
143 full-time employment on March 4, 2024.
144
145 A MOTION was made by Selectman Grella and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to accept the 
146 appointment of Anthony Culotta to the position of full-time (non-exempt) Patrolman at Grade 
147 9-Step 4 on the Police Union pay scale ($30.10) with an effective start date of March 4, 2024, 
148 with all of the benefits outlined in the attached offer letter.
149 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
150
151 7.2. DPW Excavator Purchase
152
153 DPW Director Slosek explained that, as per the DPW Vehicle & Equipment Replacement 
154 Plan, the Department is scheduled to purchase a wheeled excavator in FY24. Quotes were 
155 solicited from three separate vendors for similar machines. It became clear that the options 
156 were Hyundai or Volvo. The Department reviewed Brookline’s Volvo excavator and 
157 Milford’s Hyundai excavator. The prices for each were within $4,000 of each other. All 
158 quotes included a digging bucket, tilt grading bucket, and rotator. The total cost includes 
159 $68,000 of ARPA funds, $144,739 from Block Grant funding, and the remaining amount from 
160 the DPW’s FY24 budget. 
161
162 Selectman Stoughton noted that he believed $92,000 of the Block Grant funds was proposed 
163 for this item, with additional money toward road reconstruction. DPW Director Slosek 
164 explained that $32,000 of the road reconstruction funds were able to be paid from last year’s 
165 budget, allowing for extra Block Grant funding to be used toward this purchase. 
166
167 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to award 
168 the purchase of one 2023 Hyundai HW170ACR wheeled excavator from Chappell Tractor, 
169 with specified implements, for the amount of $300,800.00, utilizing Sourcewell contract 
170 pricing.
171 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
172
173 7.3. DPW Truck Purchase
174
175 DPW Director Slosek explained that, as per the DPW Vehicle & Equipment Replacement 
176 Plan, Truck 4 is scheduled for replacement this year (FY24). Truck 4 had been scheduled for 
177 replacement in FY23, however the decision was made to replace the DPW loader at that time 

Page 158 of 162



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.02.26

PAGE 5 OF 8

178 due to unforeseen electrical problems. Truck 4 is an International CDL class truck. A quote 
179 was received from the regional International Dealer, Allegiance Trucks (formerly Liberty 
180 International), for a 2025 model replacement for the cab & chassis. The price quoted is based 
181 on the State of NH pricing level. The quoted price of $119,500.00 is for a truck manufactured 
182 in 2025. If the truck is manufactured in 2024, the price will be slightly less at $117,275.00. 
183 The Department plans to come to the Board after the Town vote in March to request another 
184 truck purchase from Allegiance. The intention is for this amount to come from the CRF. 
185
186 In addition to the cab & chassis, quotes were solicited from two regional truck body shops. 
187 Out of the two options, Viking Cives had the best price. The recommendation is to award the 
188 purchase of the cab & chassis from Allegiance Trucks, and the body with associated plow 
189 equipment from Viking Cives.
190
191 A MOTION was made by Selectman Pray and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
192 approve the sole-source purchase of a 2025 International HV507 SFA truck from Allegiance 
193 Trucks for an amount not to exceed $119,500. This purchase will utilize State of NH level 
194 pricing. Further, to approve the purchase of a truck body for said truck from Viking Cives for 
195 the amount of $107,900. This purchase will utilize Sourcewell contract pricing. The total 
196 combined purchase price of truck and body shall not exceed $227,400.00.
197 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
198
199 8.  Approvals
200 8.1. Donation to ACC
201
202 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
203 approve a generous $500 donation to the Amherst Conservation Commission from Joseph 
204 O’Neill.
205 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
206
207 8.2. Raffle Permit - The Rotary Club of Milford, Annual 100 Holes of Golf
208
209 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 
210 approve the request for a raffle permit for the Rotary Club of Milford for the sale of raffle 
211 tickets from early March to June 14, 2024; drawing to be held at the Amherst Country Club 
212 on June 14, 2024.
213 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
214
215 8.3. Baboosic Lake Community Septic Warrants
216
217 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 
218 approve and sign the Community Septic Warrants due April 1, 2024 as follows:
219
220 Phase I $2,183.28
221 Phase II $2,530.90
222 Phase III $6,878.85
223 Phase IV $4,838.33
224

Page 159 of 162



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.02.26

PAGE 6 OF 8

225 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
226
227 8.4. Assessing
228
229 Veteran Tax Credit
230 Item A. The attached Veteran Tax Credit Application has been reviewed and the applicant 
231 qualifies for the Tax Credit under RSA 72:28 for the 2024 tax year.
232
233 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 
234 approve the Veteran Tax Credit for Map 004, Lot 052-047 commencing in Tax Year 2024.
235 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
236
237 Item A-1. The attached Veteran Tax Credit Application has been reviewed. The applicant 
238 qualifies for the Tax Credit under RSA 72:28 for the 2024 tax year. There are two eligible 
239 veterans that reside in this household.
240
241 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 
242 approve the Veteran Tax Credit for Map 003, Lot 001-000 commencing in Tax Year 2024.
243 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
244
245 Item A-2. The attached Veteran Tax Credit Application has been reviewed and the applicant 
246 qualifies for the Tax Credit under RSA 72:28 for the 2024 tax year. There are two eligible 
247 veterans that reside in this household.
248
249 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 
250 approve the Veteran Tax Credit for Map 003, Lot 001-000 commencing in Tax Year 2024.
251 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
252
253 Item A-3. The attached Veteran Tax Credit Application has been reviewed and the applicant 
254 qualifies for the Tax Credit under RSA 72:28 for the 2025 tax year.
255
256 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 
257 approve the Veteran Tax Credit for Map 003, Lot 079-000-009 commencing in Tax Year 
258 2025.
259 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
260
261 Item A-4. The attached Veteran Tax Credit Application has been reviewed and the applicant 
262 qualifies for the Tax Credit under RSA 72:28 for the 2024 tax year.
263
264 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 
265 approve the Veteran Tax Credit for Map 008, Lot 034-000 commencing in Tax Year 2024.
266 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
267
268 Item A-5. The attached Veteran Tax Credit Application has been reviewed and the applicant 
269 qualifies for the Tax Credit under RSA 72:28 for the 2024 tax year.
270

Page 160 of 162



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.02.26

PAGE 7 OF 8

271 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 
272 approve the Veteran Tax Credit for Map 004, Lot 060-013 commencing in Tax Year 2024.
273 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
274
275 Solar Exemption
276 Item B. The attached solar exemption application provided has been reviewed and the 
277 applicant qualifies for the Tax Credit under RSA 72:62 for the 2024 tax year.
278
279 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman Grella to 
280 approve the solar exemption in the amount of $17,500 for Map 002, Lot 125-008 commencing 
281 in tax year 2024.
282 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
283
284 8.5. AP and Minutes
285
286 Accounts Payable
287
288 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 
289 approve one (1) Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $4,997.93 dated February 6, 
290 2024, subject to review and audit. (Vendors)
291 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
292
293 A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray to 
294 approve one (1) Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of $614,913.61 dated February 12, 
295 2024, subject to review and audit. (Vendors)
296 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
297
298 Minutes
299
300 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
301 approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of February 5, 2024, as presented.
302 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
303
304 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
305 approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of February 7, 2024, as presented.
306 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
307
308 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
309 approve the Board of Selectmen meeting minutes of February 12, 2024, as amended.
310 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
311
312 7. Action Items 
313 This item was previously addressed.
314
315 8. Old/New Business 
316
317 None at this time.

Page 161 of 162



BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 2024.02.26

PAGE 8 OF 8

318
319 12. Adjournment 
320
321 A MOTION was made by Selectman Stoughton and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo to 
322 adjourn the meeting at 7:51pm.
323 Vote: 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously.
324
325 NEXT MEETING: March 18, 2024
326  
327 _________________________      __________________
328 Selectman Bill Stoughton Date

Page 162 of 162


	1. Call to Order
	2. Pledge of Allegiance
	3. Citizens' Forum
	4. Board of Selectmen Reorganization
	1. Board reorganization and committee assignments
	2024-2025 BOS Members' Committee Assignments
	Nashua Region Solid Waste Management District Appointment


	5. Scheduled Appointments
	1. Amherst Highway Safety Committee Discussion re No
	Amherst Highway Safety Committee
	No Through Trucking  Rec Final
	No Engine Braking Ordinance


	6. Administration
	1. 457(b) Secure Act 1Election forms for 457 (b) Defe
	Staff Report
	Corebridge (Valic)62881.001 457(b) SECURE Act 1.0 Checklist CRBG
	Mission Square SECUREActElectionForm (1)

	2. Rail Trail Referendum discussion
	Staff Report

	3. BOS Action Items
	Staff Report
	BOS Action Items 2024 - as of 2-26-24


	7. Staff Reports
	1. DPW- Request for Authorization to expend CRF funds
	Staff Report
	2024.02.15 DPW CLoud Conversion quote
	1-31-24 CRF Balances

	2. DPW-Road Work Bid
	Staff Report
	DPW05-24 Award Form
	Continental Paving Inc
	Pike Industries

	3. DPW- PD Roof Bid
	Staff Report
	DPW06-24 award
	JB Roofing
	Queen City
	Adam Vaillancourt Roofing
	JJS Universal
	Superior Structure LLC
	A1 Siding&Roofing
	Peter DeSalvo Contracting_001

	4. DPW- Church Steeple Painting Bid
	Staff Report
	DPW01-24 award form
	Target New England
	Scholar Painting & Restoration
	IM Painting

	5. Land Bond for purchase/refinance
	Staff Report
	NHMBB - Program Review
	NHMBB July_2024 Sale Schedule
	NHMBB - Estimated Schedule - Amherst 2M 20yrs

	6. Employer Election to Participate in the NH Retirem
	Staff Report
	Amherst Draft - election-to-participate-in-the-nhrs-plan

	7. FY25 Seasonal Wage Scale - Effective 4-7-24
	Staff Report
	FY25 Seasonal Wage Schedule


	8. Approvals
	1. Use of Town Common, Memorial Day Parade: Friday, M
	Staff Report
	Use of Town Common Request- Memorial Day Parade May 24, 2024 - signed

	2. Use of Town Common, Fourth of July Celebration
	Staff Report
	Town Common Use Reqeust Fourth of July Committee - signed

	3. Atlas Fireworks Permit for Wholesale/Retail Sale o
	Staff Report
	Atlas Fireworks Permit

	4. 2023 Elderly Tax Deferrals
	Staff Report

	5. Assessing
	Staff Report

	6. AP, Payroll and Minutes
	Staff Report
	2024.02.26 BOS_DRAFT - WRS Tracked Changes


	9. Action Items
	10. Old/New Business
	 Adjournment
	 Next Meeting: April 1, 2024

	Plan Sponsor Name_2: Town of Amherst
	Plan Name_2: Town of Amherst Deferred Compensation Plan
	Corebridge Financial Plan ID 3digit number_2: 001
	Corebridge Financial Employer Group ID 5digitnumber_2: 62881
	insert date no earlier than the first day of the Plan Year beginning after: 
	insert date no earlier than the first day of the Plan Year beginning after_2:    59½
	December 31 2019_2:             01/01/2024
	Check Box9: Off
	Check Box10: Off
	Check Box11: Yes
	Text9: 
	Text10: 
	Text11: 
	Text12: 
	Employer Plan Number: 
	Employer Plan Name: 
	Print Name: 
	Title: 
	Date: 
	undefined: 
	undefined_2: 
	Check Box306: Off
	Check Box307: Off
	Check Box308: Off
	Check Box309: Off
	Check Box310: Off
	Check Box311: Off
	Check Box312: Off
	Check Box313: Off
	Check Box314: Off
	Check Box315: Off
	ORGANIZATION OF: Town of Amherst
	At a meeting of the: Board of Selectmen
	of the town of: Amherst
	County: Hillsborough
	and the State of New Hampshire legally called on the: 18th
	day of: March
	20: 24
	following resolution was offered by: Dean E. Shankle, Jr., Ph.D.,  Town Administrator
	Be it Resolved That the: Town of Amherst
	employees of the: Town of Amherst
	to be effective: July 1, 2024
	The above resolution was adopted as appears by the following vote Yeas: 
	Nays: 
	I further certify that the full board consists of: five
	duly elected members and that as above stated: 
	In Witness Whereof I have hereunto set my hand of the: Town of Amherst
	on this: 18th
	day of_3: March
	20_3: 24
	Title1: Board of Selectmen, Chairman
	20_2: 24
	day of_2: March
	at a meeting held on the: 18th
	do hereby certify that I have compared the foregoing with the original resolution adopted by the: Town of Amherst
	of the: Town of Amherst
	I: Chairman, Board of Selectmen
	State of New Hampshire County of: Hillsborough
		2024-03-05T09:15:16-0800
	Agreement certified by Adobe Acrobat Sign


		2024-02-26T08:36:46-0800
	Agreement certified by Adobe Acrobat Sign




